Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of API Holdings Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated financial statements of API Holdings
Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding
Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), its associates and joint
venture (refer Note 53 to the attached consolidated financial statements), which comprise
the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, and the Consolidated Statement of
Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive loss), the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the Consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the
Consolidated financial statements™).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given
to us, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated
state of affairs of the Group, its associates and joint venture as at March 31, 2025, and
consolidated total comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other comprehensive loss),
consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

3.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group, its associates and joint venture in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in India in terms of the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India and the relevant provisions of the Act, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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4. Emphasis of Matters

a) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Care Easy Health Tech
Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its
report dated July 19, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is

reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no 31 to the financial statements regarding
preparation of financial statements on a realisable value basis the company has ceased
to carry on its business operations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this

matter.”

Note no. 31 as described above is reproduced as note 57(a) to the consolidated financial

statements.

b) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Muthu Pharma Private
Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its report dated
July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is reproduced as

under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 19 to the financial statements, regarding the
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion

is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 19 as described above is reproduced as note 57(b) to the consolidated

financial statements.

¢) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Pearl Medicals Private
Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its report dated
July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is reproduced as

under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 15 to the financial statements, regarding the
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion

is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 15 as described above is reproduced as note 57(c) to the consolidated financial

statements.

d) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Rau and Co Pharma
Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its
report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is

reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 15 to the financial statements, regarding the
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion

is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 15 as described above is reproduced as note 57(d) to the consolidated financial

statements.
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e) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Shell Pharmaceuticals
Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its
report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is
reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 14 to the financial statements, regarding the
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 14 as described above is reproduced as note 57(e) to the consolidated
financial statements.

f) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Dial Health Drug
Supplies Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants
vide its report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which
is reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 22 to the financial statements, regarding the
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 22 as described above is reproduced as note 57(f) to the consolidated financial
statements.

g) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Desai Pharma
Distributors Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants
vide its report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which
is reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 29 to the financial statements, regarding the
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion

is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 29 as described above is reproduced as note 57(g) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these above matters.

Other Information

5.

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the director’s report but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed and the reports of the other auditors as furnished to us (Refer
paragraph 14 below), we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

6.

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in term of the requirements of the
Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flows, and changes in equity of the Group
including its associates and joint venture in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards specified under
Section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the
Group and of its associates and joint venture are responsible for maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets
of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the
Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of
the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint venture are
responsible for assessing the ability of the Group and of its associates and joint venture to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its
associates and joint venture are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process
of the Group and of its associates and joint venture.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

9.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

10. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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11.

12.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i)
of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding
Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the ability of the Group and its associates and joint venture to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and its
associates and joint venture to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group and its associates and joint
venture to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the
financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial
statements of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included
in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors,
such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such
other entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the
independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Other Matters

13.

14.

15.

The audit report on the consolidated financial statements of Akna Medical Private Limited,
a subsidiary of the Holding Company, issued by an independent firm of Chartered
Accountants vide its report dated July 29, 2025 contains the following Basis for
Qualification, which is reproduced as under:

“As more fully described in Note 27 to the Consolidated financial statements, the Group is
unable to determine the appropriate presentation and disclosure of investment in Impex
Healthcare Private Limited as the management is unclear whether it exercises significant
influence on the aforesaid entity. Pending such assessment, we are unable to comment on
the consequential implication, if any on the consolidated financial statements as at and for
the year ended March 31, 2025.”

Note 27 as described above is included in note 59 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2025.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

The consolidated financial statements of seventeen subsidiaries, reflect total assets of Rs.
11,268.93 million and net assets of Rs. 663.39 million as at March 31, 2025, total revenue
of Rs.15,745.53 million, total comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other
comprehensive loss) of Rs 1,827.07 million and net cash inflows amounting to Rs. 7.69
million for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group’s share of total
comprehensive income (comprising of profit and other comprehensive income) of Rs. 10.10
million for the year ended March 31, 2025 as considered in the consolidated financial
statements, in respect of one associate whose financial statements have not been audited
by us. The financial statements of these subsidiaries and associate have been audited by
other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Holding Company’s
management, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements insofar as it relates
to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, and associate and
our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act including report on Other
Information insofar as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, and associate, is based on the
reports of the other auditors and the procedures performed by us.

The consolidated financial statements also include the Group’s share of total
comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other comprehensive loss) of Rs. 24.50 million
for the year ended March 31, 2025 as considered in the consolidated financial statements,
in respect of one joint venture whose financial statements have not been audited by us. The
financial statements of this joint venture are unaudited and have been furnished to us by
the management, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements insofar as it
relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these joint venture and our
report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act including report on Other
Information insofar as it relates to the aforesaid joint venture, is based solely on such
unaudited financial statements. In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us by the management, these financial statements are not material
to the Group.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with
respect to our reliance on the work done and reports of the other auditors and the financial
statements certified by the management.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
16. As required by paragraph 3(xxi) of the CARO 2020, we report that the auditors of the following

companies have given qualification or adverse remarks in their CARO report on the standalone
financial statements of the respective companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements

of the Holding Company:
Roltonstip | PR
S. Name of the Company CIN with J.[he respective CARO
No. Holding report
Company reproduced below
. .. Not ..
1 | API Holdings Limited U60100MH2019PL.C323444 Applicable (iii)(e), (xvii)
2 ﬁ;ﬁié\gedlcal Private U74999HR2018PTC073972 Subsidiary i) (b), (xvii)
Vardhman Health
3 | Specialties Private U85110KA1997PTC022000 Subsidiary (i) (b), (xvii)
Limited
4 ls,lﬁgifﬂllaljlj;t\fgt"elﬁ‘;ﬁe 4 | U52310MH2006PTC150945 | Subsidiary | (i)(b), Gxvid)
5 g‘;ggltiﬂﬁfnffe‘gmdogles U51909KA2021PTC148214 | Subsidiary | (xvii), (xix)
6 | AYI0 Retail Solutions U74999PN2017PTC190721 | Subsidiary | (ix)(a) (), (xvii)
7 Elr;??:é Solutions Private U74999MH2019PTC320524 | Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)
8 ‘ﬁ:’lni}t?; Medicare Private U51909MH2018PTC402763 | Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)
g | Arvan Wellness Private | y5,000HR2017PTCO71447 | Subsidiary | (ix)(d), Govi)
Eastern Agencies
10 | Healthcare Private U72900DL2001PTC109143 Subsidiary (xvii)
Limited
11 Xierrrili(taét(;:Sh Medico Private U24304KA2017PTC106716 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)
D. C. Agencies private <1 . ..
12 | ed U74999DL2016PTC304376 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)
13 ?gﬁg?eﬁﬁﬁgéog‘es U72900KA2016PTC126436 | Subsidiary | (vii) (a), (ix) (d)
14 ?ﬁiz?ecﬁzgl)ﬁe%onned U72900MH2019PTC327097 | Subsidiary 8;1)) (Eic)) ((i\)/’ii)
Ascent Wellness and
15 | Pharma Solutions Private | U74999MH2019PTC325869 | Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)
Limited
Care Easy Health Tech - ey
16 Private Limited U85100MH2021PTC371921 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
17 %Eﬁ: dPharma Private U51909TN2016PTC104638 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
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18 P.ealtl Medicals Private U85120TN1999PTC042837 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
Limited
Rau and Co Pharma ‘1 .. .

19 | private Limited U51109MH2016PTC449215 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
Shell Pharmaceuticals - .. .

20 | plivate Limited U51909TN2009PTC072476 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
Dial Health Drug - oy

21 Supplies Private Limited Us51101MH2015PTC270083 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
Desai Pharma

22 | Distributors Private U74999MH2013PTC247908 | Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
Limited

17. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated
financial statements.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid
consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those
books and the reports of the other auditors, except for the instances mentioned below and the
matters stated in paragraph 17 (h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit
and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended) (“the Rules”):

S.no. | Name Relationship | Remarks
with holding
company
1 API Holdings | Not (i) In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for
Limited Applicable one application, we are unable to verify whether the backup

of books of account and other books and papers maintained
in electronic mode have been maintained on a daily basis on
servers physically located in India during the year;

(ii) The back-up of one software application for the books of
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
mode have been kept on servers physically located in India
on a daily basis, but maintained on every working day other

than holidays.

2 Threpsi (i) In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for
Solutions Subsidiary one application, we are unable to verify whether the backup
Private of books of account and other books and papers maintained
Limited in electronic mode have been maintained on a daily basis on

servers physically located in India during the year;

(ii) The back-up of one software application for the books of
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
mode have been kept on servers physically located in India
on a daily basis, but maintained on every working day other
than holidays.
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Docon Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for
Technologies one software application, we are unable to verify whether the
Private backup of books of account and other books and papers
Limited maintained in electronic mode has been maintained on a
daily basis on servers physically located in India during the
year.
D.C. Agencies | Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for
Private one software application, we are unable to verify whether the
Limited backup of books of account and other books and papers
maintained in electronic mode has been maintained on a
daily basis on servers physically located in India during the
year, and for one software application, the back-up of the
books of account and other books and papers maintained in
electronic mode has not been kept on servers physically
located in India on a daily basis, but maintained on every
working day other than holidays.
Akna Medical | Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we are
Private unable to comment whether back-up of the books of account
Limited and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode,
(Consolidated) have been kept in servers physically located in India on a
daily basis.
AKP Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Healthcare are unable to verify whether the backup of books of account
Private and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode
Limited has been maintained on a daily basis on servers physically
located in India during the year.
Ayro  Retail | Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Solutions are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Private account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Limited mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.
Mahaveer Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Medi-Sales are unable to verify whether the backup of books of account
Private and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode
Limited has been maintained on a daily basis on servers physically
located in India during the year.
Venkatesh Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Medico are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Private account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Limited mode has been maintained on a daily basis on servers
physically located in India during the period January 1, 2025
to March 31, 2025.
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10 Aycon Graph | Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Connect are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Private account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Limited mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

11 Ascent Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Wellness and are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Pharma account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Solutions mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.
Private
Limited

12 Aryan Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Wellness are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Private account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Limited mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

13 Eastern Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Agencies are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Healthcare account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Private mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the period
Limited March 1, 2025 to March 31, 2025.

14 Avighna Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
Medicare are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of
Private account and other books and papers maintained in electronic
Limited mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

comprehensive loss), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of
account and records maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company
as on March 31, 2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the
reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiaries, associates incorporated in India, none of the
directors of the Group companies, its associates incorporated in India is disqualified as on March
31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

With respect to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith, reference is
made to our remarks in paragraph 17(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and
paragraph 17(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Rules.

With respect to the adequacy of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements of the Group and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our
separate report in Annexure A.
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(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our
information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact, if any, of pending litigations on
the consolidated financial position of the Group, its associates and joint venture— Refer Note
55 to the consolidated financial statements.

ii. The Group and its associates were not required to recognise a provision as at March 31, 2025
under the applicable law or accounting standards, as it does not have any material foreseeable
losses on long-term contract. The Group and its associates did not have any derivative
contracts as at March 31, 2025.

iii. During the year ended March 31, 2025, there were no amounts which were required to be
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company, and its
subsidiaries and associates incorporated in India.

iv. (a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries/associates
which are companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited
under the Act have represented to us and the other auditors of such subsidiaries/associates
respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in Note 58 to the
consolidated financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either
from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding
Company or any of such subsidiaries/associates to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies),
including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest
in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding
Company or any of such subsidiaries/associates (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(b) The respectlve managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries/associate which
are companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the
Act have represented to us and the other auditors of such subsidiaries/associates respectively
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the Notes 58 to the financial
statements, no funds have been received by the Company or any of such
subsidiaries/associates from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company
or any of such subsidiaries/associates shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest in
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(c) Based on the audit procedures, that has been considered reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, performed by us and those performed by the auditors of the
subsidiaries/associates which are companies incorporated in India whose financial statements
have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our or other auditor’s notice that has
caused us or the other auditors to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii)
of Rule 11(e) contain any material misstatement.

v. The dividend paid during the year by one subsidiary is in compliance with Section 123 of the
Act. The Holding Company, its subsidiaries (other than those mentioned above), associates and
joint venture, have not declared or paid any dividend during the year.
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Based on our examination, which included test checks and that performed by the respective
auditors of the subsidiaries and associates which are companies incorporated in India whose
financial statements have been audited under the Act, except for the instances mentioned below,
the Group, and its associates have used accounting software for maintaining their books of
account which have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. During the course of
our audit, other than as described below we, and the respective auditors of the above referred
subsidiaries and associates, did not notice any instance of the audit trail feature being tampered
with. Further, the audit trail has been preserved by the Group and its associates as per the
statutory requirements for record retention:

no.

Name Relationship | Remarks

: Holding “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the

API Holdings . L

s Company Company has used accounting software for maintaining its
Limited . . . X
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail
(edit log) facility and
a. that has operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded for four accounting software,
b. audit trail not available for three accounting software and
c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to
lack of information.
d. one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail

For direct database changes

a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,

b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software,

c. audit trail was not applicable for one accounting software,

d. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to
lack of information and

e. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where
such software has been hosted by a service provider as the
relevant information is not available in the independent service
auditor's report.

f. one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail.”

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Solutions Company has used accounting software for maintaining its
Private books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail
Limited (edit log) facility and

a. that has operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded for four accounting software,

b. audit trail not available for two accounting software and

c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to
lack of information.

d. one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail.

Threpsi
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For direct database changes

a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,

b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software,

c¢. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to
lack of information and

d. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where
such software has been hosted by a service provider as the
relevant information is not available in the independent service
auditor's report.

e. one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail.”

3 AKP
Healthcare
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks,

a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions
recorded in the software, except for certain information or data
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data
changes.

b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility.

¢) in respect of third accounting software, in the absence of
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all relevant
transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit trail
feature of the aforesaid software.”

4 Eastern
Agencies
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used accounting software for maintaining its
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail
(edit log) facility and that has operated throughout the year for
all relevant transactions recorded in the accounting software,
except for following:

For application changes

a) audit trail not available for three accounting software and

b) we are unable to comment for one accounting software due
to lack of information.

For direct database changes

a) audit trail was not available for four accounting software,

b) we are unable to comment for two accounting software due
to lack of information and

¢) we are unable to comment for one accounting software
where such software has been hosted by a service provider
as the relevant information is not available in the
independent service auditor's report.
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And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application
changes.”

5 Venkatesh
Medico
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks,

a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions
recorded in the software, except for certain information or data
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data
changes.

b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility.

¢) in respect of third accounting software, in the absence of
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all relevant
transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit trail
feature of the aforesaid software.”

6 Aushad
Pharma
Distributors
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks,

a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions
recorded in the software, except for certain information or data
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data
changes.

b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility.”

7 Avighna
Medicare
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in
the software, except for the following:

(i) in respect of the four-accounting software, the audit trail
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any direct
data changes.

(ii) one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail and in respect of another two-
accounting software, the audit trail feature was not enabled;
and
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(iii) in respect of one accounting software, in the absence of
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all
relevant transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit
trail feature of the aforesaid software.

Aycon Graph
Connect
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has wused multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
software, except for the following:

(a) in respect of the core accounting software, the audit trail
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any direct
data changes.

(b) one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail;”

Aryan
Wellness
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in
the software, except for the following:

in respect of the four-accounting software, the audit trail
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any direct
data changes.

(ii) one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail and in respect of another two-
accounting software, the audit trail feature was not enabled;
and

(iii) in respect of one accounting software, in the absence of
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all
relevant transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit
trail feature of the aforesaid software.”

10

Ayro Retail
Solutions
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks,

a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data
changes.
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b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility

¢) in respect of third accounting software which has a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility that has operated during
the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.”

11

D.C Agencies
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has wused multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account which has a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
accounting software, except for following,

For application changes

a. audit trail not available for three accounting software and

b. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due
to lack of information.

For direct database changes

a. audit trail was not available for four accounting software,

b. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due
to lack of information, and

c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software
where such software has been hosted by a service provider
as the relevant information is not available in the
independent service auditor's report.

And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application
changes.”

12

Mahaveer
Medi-Sales
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used accounting software for maintaining its
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail
(edit log) facility and that has operated throughout the year for
all relevant transactions recorded in the accounting software,
except for following;:

For application changes
a. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to
lack of information.

For direct database changes

a. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to
lack of information.

And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application
changes.”
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13

Docon
Technologies
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account which has a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
accounting software, except for the following:

For direct database changes:

a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,

b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software,

c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where
such software has been hosted by a service provider as the
relevant information is not available in the independent service
auditor's report.

And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application
changes.”

14

Ascent
Wellness and
Pharma
Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in
the software, except for the following:

(i) in respect of the five-accounting software, the audit trail
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any
direct data changes.

(ii) one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail and in respect of another accounting
software, the audit trail feature was not enabled; and

(iii) in respect of two accounting software, in the absence of
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all
relevant transactions, we are unable to comment on the
audit trail feature of the aforesaid software.”

15

AHWSPL
India Private
Limited

Subsidiary

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the
Company has used multiple accounting software for
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the
software, except for the following;:

(i) one accounting software does not have the feature of
recording audit trail”
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16 | Thyrocare Subsidiary “In respect of the Holding Company, two accounting software
Technologies used by the Holding Company for maintaining its books of
Limited account during the year ended March 31, 2025 did not have a
(Consolidated) feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility throughout the

year, as reported by us.”

“Further, in respect of the Holding Company, one accounting
software used by the Holding Company for maintaining its
books of account during the year ended March 31, 2025 did not
have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility at the
application level throughout the year and at the database level
from April 2024 to September 2024, as reported by us.”

17 | Akna Medical | Subsidiary “Based on our examination which included test checks, except
Private for the instances mentioned below, the Holding Company and
Limited its subsidiary companies incorporated in India have used
(Consolidated) accounting software for maintaining its books of account, which

have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the
same has operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded in the respective software.

i. In case of accounting software used for maintaining order
management software (OMS) by the Holding Company and
its three subsidiary companies, feature of recording audit
trial (edit log), facility, except that no audit trail feature was
enabled at the application and data base level during the
year ended March 31, 2025.

ii. In case of accounting software used for Subsidiaries, audit
trail feature was not enabled throughout the year and also
not enabled at the database level during the year ended
March 31, 2025.

iii. In case of an accounting software used for maintaining
books of account relating to payroll by the Holding
Company and all the subsidiaries has used an accounting
software for maintaining its books of account (managed
and maintained by a third-party software service provider)
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log)
facility and the same has been operated throughout the
year for all the relevant transactions recorded in the
software. Further, during the course of our audit [and
considering SOC report], we did not come across any
instance of audit trail feature being tampered with.”
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18. The Group, its associates and joint venture have paid/provided for managerial
remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of
Section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016
Sd/-

Nitin Khatri

Partner
Membership Number: 110282

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKC5413

Place: Mumbai
Date: August 6, 2025
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to Consolidated
Financial Statements under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the company as of
and for the year ended March 31, 2025, we have audited the internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements of APT Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the
Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries, its associates, which are companies incorporated in

India, as of that date.

Reporting under clause (i) of sub section 3 of Section 143 of the Act in respect of the adequacy
of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is not applicable to
two subsidiaries and one associate incorporated in India namely Think Health Diagnostics
Private Limited, Care Easy Health Tech Private Limited and Equinox Labs Private Limited,

pursuant to MCA notification GSR 583(E) dated 13 June 2017.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, to
whom reporting under clause (i) of sub section 3 of Section 143 of the Act in respect of the
adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is
applicable, which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal financial controls based on internal control over financial reporting
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
(“the Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”).
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies,
the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial

information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing specified under
Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal
financial controls, both applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and both issued
by the ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established

and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.
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Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the
internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the
other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Holding Company’s
internal financial controls system with reference to consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Consolidated Financial
Statements

6.

A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference Consolidated
Financial Statements

7.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with
reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

8.

In our opinion, the Holding Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, which are companies
incorporated in India, have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.
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Other Matter

9. Our aforesaid reports under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating
effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements insofar
as it relates to fourteen subsidiaries, which are companies incorporated in India, is based on

the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated in India. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016

Sd/-
Nitin Khatri

Partner
Membership Number: 110282

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKC5413

Place: Mumbai
Date: August 06, 2025
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

particulars Note As at| As at|
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 2,687.48 2,862.44
Right-of-use assets 4 1,314.26 1,385.84
Capital work-in-progress 3(i) 141.62 27.56
Goodwill 5 35,133.38 36,911.84
Other intangible assets 6 3,930.57 4,474.21
Intangible assets under development 6A - 9.48
Investments accounted for using the equity method 7 241.67 1,748.03
Financial assets
Investments 8 177.62 174.62
Other financial assets 9 261.20 249.95
Deferred tax assets (net) 10 144.13 426.98
Income tax assets (net) 11 568.92 758.44
Other non-current assets 12 38.71 104.68
Total non-current assets 44,639.56 49,134.07
Current assets
Inventories 13 5,538.91 5,555.60
Financial assets
Investments 14 1,373.64 1,367.55
Trade receivables 15 6,695.08 7,062.10
Cash and cash equivalents 16 1,189.91 3,279.89
Other bank balances 17 6,207.66 12,825.02
Loans 18 0.43 695.58
Other financial assets 19 916.15 862.62
Other current assets 20 3,196.44 3,071.28
Assets classified as held for sale 3(ii) 8.06 42.89
Total current assets 25,126.28 34,762.53
Total assets 69,765.84 83,896.60
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity Share capital 21 6,516.67 6,240.44
Instruments entirely in the nature of equity 22 433.00 256.53
Other equity 23 23,089.18 15,647.45
Equity attributable to owners of APl Holdings Limited 30,038.85 22,144.42
Non-controlling interests 53 2,683.96 3,738.68
Total equity 32,722.81 25,883.10
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 24 16,840.92 20,243.92
Lease liabilities 48 913.75 900.39
Provisions 25 131.63 111.66
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 10 1,344.57 1,732.70
Contract liabilities 26 0.01 -
Total non-current lial 19,230.88 22,988.67
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 27 3,495.76 20,739.65
Lease liabilities 48 267.20 310.25
Trade payables
- total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises 28 252.97 330.57
- total outstanding dues of other than micro and small enterprises 28 4,014.13 3,798.50
Other financial liabilities 29 7,577.52 7,752.28
Other current liabilities 30 1,643.72 1,618.82
Contract liabilities 31 228.94 130.79
Provisions 32 291.30 302.91
Current tax liabilities (net) 33 40.61 41.06
Total current liabilities 17,812.15 35,024.83
Total liabilities 37,043.03 58,013.50
Total esuig and S 69,765.84 83,896.60
Material accounting policies 2
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
For Price Chartered A LLP API Holdings Limited
Firm's Registration No: 012754N/N500016 CIN :U60100MH2019PTC323444
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Nitin Khatri Siddharth Shah Dhaval Shah
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API Holdings Limited
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the Year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

N Note For the Year ended For the Year ended
Particulars
No. March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Income
(I) Revenue from operations 34 58,721.64 56,642.86
(Il) Other income 35 1,078.65 946.55
(1) Total income (1 + 1) 59,800.29 57,589.41
(IV) Expenses
Cost of Material Consumed 36 1,886.02 1,645.09
Purchase of stock-in-trade 37 47,295.83 45,728.06
Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade 38 (39.76) 1,430.14
Employee benefits expense 39 9,083.99 6,993.63
Finance costs 40 5,061.07 7,279.16
Depreciation and amortisation expense 41 1,689.78 2,159.52
Expected credit loss on financial assets 1,001.25 1,692.64
Other expenses 42 6,107.40 5,619.76
Total expenses (IV) 72,085.58 72,548.00
(V) Loss before exceptional items, share of net profit/(loss) of Investments (12,285.29) (14,958.59)
accounted for using the equity method and tax (lll - 1IV)
(V1) Share of profit/(loss) of Investments accounted for using equity method (Refer 81.55 8.75
note 53)
(V) Loss before exceptional items and tax (V + VI) (12,203.74) (14,949.84)
(Vi) Exceptional items 43
- Impairment of goodwill (refer note 5) (1,750.00) (5,825.00)
- Impairment of investments in associates (refer note 7) (198.13) (334.25)
- Early redemption charges for NCD's (refer note (47) - (3,424.94)
- Others (1,016.98) (685.69)
(I1X) Loss before tax (VII + VIII) (15,168.85) (25,219.72)
(X) Tax expense 45
(1) Current tax 651.07 379.21
(2) Deferred tax (102.21) (270.03)
(3) Tax expense pertaining to prior period 6.18 6.23
Total tax expense (X) 555.04 115.41
(X1) Loss after tax (IX - X) (15,723.89) (25,335.13)
(X11) Other comprehensive income
A. Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
(i) Remeasurements of post-employment defined benefit plans 49 (3.18) 24.64
(ii) Income tax relating to above items 45 3.08 (1.22)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (XII) (0.10) 23.42
(XIn) Total comprehensive loss (XI + X1 (15,723.99) (25,311.71)
(XIV) Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to:
- Owners of APl Holdings Limited (15,931.93) (25,499.51)
- Non controlling interest 208.04 164.38
(15,723.89) (25,335.13)
(XV) Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period attributable to:
- Owners of API Holdings Limited 2.12 21.69
- Non controlling interest (2.22) 1.73
(0.10) 23.42
(XV1) Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period attributable to:
- Owners of APl Holdings Limited (15,929.81) (25,477.82)
- Non controlling interest 205.82 166.11
(15,723.99) (25,311.71)
(XV1I) Loss per share (face value of Rs. 1 each) attributable to owners of the group 46
Basic (1.05) (3.02)
Diluted (1.05) (3.02)
Material accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
API Holdings Limited
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API Holdings Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

For the year ended

For the year ended

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
A.Cash flow from operating activities
Loss before tax (15,168.85) (25,219.72)
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses 1,689.78 2,159.52
Finance Costs 5,061.07 7,279.16
Early redemption charges for NCD's - 3,424.94
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 22.90 109.66
Gain on fair valuation of financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss (net) (35.68) (96.25)
Gain on sale of financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (net) (77.16) (0.14)
Impairment of goodwill 1,750.00 5,825.00
Impairment of investments accounted for using the equity method 198.13 334.25
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and Intangibles 8.78 426.99
Impairment of Loans in associates 572.07 -
Loss on sale of Investment in subsidiary and associate 444 .91 -
Change in fair value of assets held for sale (40.03) 60.00
Gain on termination /modification of leases (29.69) (45.85)
Liabilities no longer required written back (25.23) (34.81)
Employee share based payment expense 4,822.46 2,218.52
Unwinding of interest on security deposits (16.07) (15.54)
Impairment allowance for doubtful advances and balances with government authorities 406.08 464.66
Expected credit loss on financial assets 1,001.25 1,692.64
Share of (profit) / loss of Investments accounted for using equity method (81.55) (8.75)
Amortization of financial guarantee liability (4.36) (21.43)
Interest income (862.43) (689.80)
Operating (loss) before working capital changes (363.62) (2,136.95)
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in other current and non-current financial assets (588.81) 322.81
(Increase)/decrease in other current and non-current assets (11.28) (318.29)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (560.20) 295.60
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 16.69 1,326.00
Increase/(decrease) in other current and non-current financial liabilities (469.58) 204.77
Increase/(decrease) in other current and non-current liabilities 24.90 127.51
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 81.49 (5.04)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 8.18 (59.61)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 98.16 (11.08)
Cash used in operations (1,764.07) (254.28)
Income taxes paid (net of refund) (471.25) (357.08)
Net cash flow used in operating activities (A) (2,235.32) (611.36)
B. Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, Goodwill and intangible assets (806.37) (723.14)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 218.01 101.57
Proceeds from of Investments of Investment accounted for using the equity method 1,018.44 -
Proceeds from Sale of Investments in Subsidiary 0.67 -
Payments for purchase of investments in subsidiaries (net) (330.54) (1,081.05)
Payments for purchase of mutual funds - (1,500.00)
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds 81.99 1,422.87
Loans and advances extended - (54.30)
Proceeds from repayment of loans and advances given 241.33 530.00
Payment for placement of fixed deposits with banks - (17,007.83)
Proceeds from withdrawal of fixed deposits with banks 6,617.36 5,221.50
Interest received 832.29 543.37
Consideration paid for business acquisitions (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) (123.57) (62.49)
Net cash flow used in investing activities (B) 7,749.61 (12,609.50)
C. Cash flow from financing activities
Payment of share issue costs - (53.59)
Proceed from issue of compulsorily convertible preference shares 18,088.06 20,000.80
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (281.71) (295.08)
Proceeds from /(Repayments) of short term borrowings (net) (4,120.76) (2,102.32)
Repayment of long term borrowings (18,451.53) (494.31)
Proceeds from long term borrowings 700.00 286.29
Interest paid (borrowings) (3,080.54) (2,288.57)
Proceeds towards capital contribution by Non-Controlling Interest 3.24 12.24
Principal portion of lease liabilities (301.21) (338.54)
Interest portion of lease liabilities (154.66) (158.59)
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) (7,599.11) 14,568.33
Net cash flows during the year (A+B+C) (2,084.82) 1,347.47
Cash and cash equivalents (opening balance) 3,274.45 1,926.98
Cash and cash equivalents (closing balance) 1,189.63 3,274.45




API Holdings Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025| March 31, 2024
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Comprises :
Cash on hand 25.21 27.42
Cheque in hand 0.61 27.10
Balance with banks
In current accounts 1,009.68 1,193.10
In deposit accounts 154.41 2,032.27
Less: Temporary book overdraft (0.28) (5.44)
1,189.63 3,274.45
Details of non-cash investing and financing activities
The following are the non cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of Right to use assets 570.14 519.52
Reclassification of financial liability into preference shares - 5,483.47
Issue of shares pursuant to Conversion of Employee Stock option into Equity 15.39 -
Issue of Bonus shares 62.55 -
Conversion of Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares ("CCPS") into Equity 198.29 98.39

Refer note 24, Net Debt Reconciliation for disclosure of non-cash financing activities

The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as set out in the Ind AS - 7 on Statement of Cash Flow as notified under Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2015.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm's Registration No: 012754N/N500016
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Notes to the Consolidated financial statements
For the year Ended March 31, 2025

1.1

1.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION:

The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise financial statements of APl Holdings Limited (CIN:
U60100MH2019PLC323444) ("API") ("the Company"), its subsidiaries, its step-down subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group")
and its associate, and Joint venture for the year ended 31 March 2025. The Company is a public limited company
domiciled and incorporated in India. The registered office of the Company is situated at 1st Floor, E-Shape Building, Ashok
Silk Mills Compound, 202, L.B.S Marg, Ghatkopar (West), Mumbai, Mumbai, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India, 400086.

The Group is engaged in trading of pharmaceutical and cosmetic goods, licensing of internet portals or mobile applications
related to sales and distribution of pharmaceutical and cosmetic goods, diagnostic services, teleconsulting etc.

The Company has converted from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company, pursuant to a special resolution
passed in the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the Company held on October 1, 2021, and consequently the
name of the Company has changed to APl Holdings Limited pursuant to a fresh certificate of incorporation issued by the
Registrar of Companies on October 28, 2021.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31t March 2025 were approved and adopted by the Board of
Directors in their meeting held on August 06, 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION:

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS), as notified under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, considering the business plan for 12
months from the reporting period as approved by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and that of its
subsidiaries and associates, which includes assets monetisation, unutilised credit facility and financing arrangement
formalized through a term sheet received subsequent to the reporting period. Based on the above, the group is confident
of its ability to meet the funds requirement and to continue its business as a going concern and accordingly, the financial
statements have been prepared on that basis.

The financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis, except for the following assets and liabilities, which
have been measured as indicated below:

- Certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments).

- Employee’s Defined Benefit Plans measured as per actuarial valuation.

- Employee Stock Option Plans measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest Millions, except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION:

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries, associate
and joint venture as at March 31, 2025

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee, rights arising from other contractual arrangements, the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights and the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of the holdings of the
other voting rights holders.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group obtains
control and assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary disposed-off during the year are included in the
consolidated financial statements till the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.



Notes to the Consolidated financial statements
For the year Ended March 31, 2025

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

Interest in Joint Ventures are accounted using the equity method, after being initially recognised at cost in the
consolidated balance sheet

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit and loss, and the Group’s
share of other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable
from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within equity

Consolidation procedure:

a) Combine items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent with those of its
subsidiaries.

b) Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s portion of
equity of each subsidiary. The difference between the cost of investment in the subsidiaries and the Parent's share
of net assets at the time of acquisition of control in the subsidiaries is recognised in the consolidated financial
statement as goodwill. However, resultant gain (bargain purchase) is recognized in other comprehensive income on
the acquisition date and accumulated to capital reserve in equity.

c) Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra Group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

d) The consolidated statement of profit and loss and each component of OCl are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

e) For the acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries, where there is no change in the control, the Group
recognises a reduction to the non-controlling interest of the respective subsidiary with the difference between this
figure and the cash paid, inclusive of transaction fees, being recognised in equity. If the Group loses control over a
subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other
components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss.
Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed off during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

f) Interest in associates and joint ventures are recorded using equity method as per Ind AS 28 — ‘Investment in
Associates and Joint Ventures’. The investment in associates is initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, under the
equity method, post-acquisition attributable profit/ losses and other comprehensive income are adjusted in the
carrying value of investment to the extent of the Group's investment in the associates. Goodwill relating to the
associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment individually.

g) Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances. If an entity of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments
are made to that Group member’s financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

h) Consolidated financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to the same
reporting date as that of the parent company. When the end of the reporting period of the parent is different from
that of a subsidiary, if any, the subsidiary prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional financial information as of
the same date as the consolidated financial statements of the parent to enable the parent to consolidate the financial
information of the subsidiary, unless it is impracticable to do so.



Notes to the Consolidated financial statements
For the year Ended March 31, 2025

2
2.1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Business Combination and Goodwill/Capital Reserve:

The Group uses the pooling of interest method of accounting to account for common control business combination and
acquisition method of accounting to account for other business combinations.

The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. Judgement is applied in determining the
acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred from one party to another. Control exists when the Group is
exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through power over the entity. In assessing control, potential voting rights are considered only if the rights are
substantive.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the
Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews
the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in
an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised
in Other Comprehensive Income (OCl) and accumulated in other equity as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear
evidence of bargain purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in other equity as capital reserve, without routing the
same through OCI.

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
previous owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration transferred also includes the fair
value of any contingent consideration. Consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of
pre-existing relationships. Any goodwill that arises on account of such business combination is tested annually for
impairment.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and the
settlement is accounted for within other equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is re-measured at fair value at
each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss.

A contingent liability of the acquiree is assumed in a business combination only if such a liability represents a present
obligation and arises from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
the Group recognises any non- controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

In case of Pooling of interest method of accounting, the assets and liabilities of the combining entities recognises at their
carrying amounts. No adjustment is made to reflect the fair value or recognise any new assets and liabilities. The financial
information in the consolidated financial statements in respect of prior periods restates as if the business combination had
occurred from the beginning of the preceding period. The difference, if any, between the amount recorded as share capital
issued plus any additional consideration in the form of cash or other assets and the amount of share capital of the
transferor is transferred to capital reserve and presented separately from other capital reserves.

Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination such as finders’ fees, legal fees, due
diligence fees, and other professional and consulting fees are expensed as incurred.

In accounting for business combinations, judgment is required in identifying the acquirer and acquiree for the purpose of
business combination and whether an identifiable intangible asset is to be recorded separately from goodwill.
Additionally, estimating the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets (including useful life estimates) and
liabilities acquired, and contingent consideration assumed involves management judgment. These measurements are
based on information available at the acquisition date and are based on expectations and assumptions that have been
deemed reasonable by management. Changes in these judgments, estimates, and assumptions can materially affect the
results of operations.
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2.2

2.3

2.4

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation:

Property, Plant and Equipment are carried at cost, net of recoverable taxes, trade discount and rebates less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost includes purchase price, borrowing cost and any cost directly attributable
to bringing the assets to its working condition for its intended use. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably.

Property, Plant and Equipment not ready for the intended use on the date of Balance Sheet are disclosed as “Capital Work-
in-Progress” and expenses incurred relating to it, net of income earned during the development stage, are disclosed as pre-
operative expenses under “Capital Work-in-Progress”.

Depreciation on the Property, Plant and Equipment is provided using written down value method over the useful life of
the assets as specified in Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013 and following assets where the useful life is different as
per technical evaluation than those prescribed in Schedule Il.

Items of Property Plant and Equipment’s Useful life considered for depreciation

Office equipment 5 Years

Computer and hardware 3-6 Years

Furniture and fixtures 10 Years

Vehicles 8-10 Years

Leasehold improvement Lower of useful life or lease term
Plant and machinery 7-15 Years

Building 30 Years

Freehold land is not depreciated and carried at historical cost.

The asset's residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and are
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Property, Plant and Equipment are eliminated from financial statements, either on disposal or when retired from active
use. Gains / losses arising in the case of retirement/disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment are recognised in the
statement of profit and loss in the year of occurrence.

Intangible Assets and amortisation:

Intangible assets are carried at cost, net of recoverable taxes, trade discount and rebates less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the intangible
assets.

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits attributed to the asset will
flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured.

Amortization is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Particulars Useful life considered for amortisation
Brand Name 20 Years

Technology Platform 4 Years

Computer Software 3 Years
Non-compete arrangements 5 Years

Customer Relationship 5-20 Years

Other Intangibles 3 Years

The assets’ useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Goodwill:

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of acquired
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companies. Goodwill arising out of business combination is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Goodwill is not
amortised, instead it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if indication of impairment exists.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period. On disposal of a subsidiary the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of purchases and all other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of weighted average cost. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and
discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Trade Receivables:

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If receivable is expected to be collected within a period of 12 months or less from the reporting date (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as Current Assets otherwise as Non-Current Assets.
Trade receivables are measured at their transaction price on initial recognition, unless it contains a significant financing
component, or pricing adjustments embedded in the contract. Trade receivables are held with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore are subsequently measured at amortised cost less Expected Credit Loss
allowance.

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and in hand, short-term deposits and short term highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and
cash equivalents are as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are integral part of Cash management
activities. In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

Contributed Equity:

Equity shares are classified as equity. Compulsory convertible instruments such as preference shares and/or debentures
that will be or are expected to be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments are classified as equity if they are
expected to be settled into a fixed number of equity shares. Any value realised over and above par value upon issuance of
equity shares are accounted for as ‘Securities Premium’ under other equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Borrowings:

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment
for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The fair value of the liability portion of optionally convertible debentures is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible debenture. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or redemption of the debentures. The remainder of the proceeds is attributable to the equity portion of the
compound instrument. This is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects, and not
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subsequently remeasured.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss as other income/ expenses.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to
extinguish all or part of the liability (equity for debt swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Where there is a breach of a material provision of a long- term loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting
period with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand on the reporting date, the entity does not classify the
liability as current, if the lender agreed, after the reporting period and before the approval of the financial statements for
issue, not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach.

Trade and Other Payables:

Trade payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group and are unpaid at the end of the
reporting period. The amounts are unsecured and usually paid within time limits as contracted. Trade payables are
presented as current liabilities unless the payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at their transactional value, which represents the fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method wherever applicable.

Put Liability:

The Group enters into business combination arrangements which may include terms where the Group has written put
options or a purchased call option along with the written put, over the equity of a subsidiary which permit the holder to
put their shares in the subsidiary back to the Group at the exercise price specified in the arrangement. The Group analyses
the terms of such arrangements to assess whether they provide the Group or the non-controlling interest with access to
the risks and rewards associated with the actual ownership of the shares.

The non-controlling interest is recognized only if risks and rewards associated with ownership have been retained by the
non-controlling interest. In such case, the amount that may become payable under the option on its exercise is initially
recognized at the present value of the redemption amount within other financial liabilities (presented as “Put Liability”)
with a corresponding charge directly to equity. Subsequent changes in put liability are recognized within equity.

If the risks and rewards associated with ownership are transferred to the Group, a non-controlling interest is not
recognized. In such a case, the put liability is recognized as part of the purchase consideration for the business
combination with a corresponding effect on goodwill. The put liability is subsequently accreted through finance charges
up to the redemption amount that is payable on the date at which the option first becomes exercisable. In the event that
the option lapses unexercised, a non-controlling interest is then recognized at an amount equal to its share of the carrying
value of the subsidiary’s net assets at the date of lapse. Any difference between the put liability and the non-controlling
interest is recognized within equity.

Impairment of Non-Current Assets (excluding Goodwill):

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible, intangible and other non-
current assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset/ cash-generating unit is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
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time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If
the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

Non-current assets (other than Goodwill) that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

Refer accounting policy on “Goodwill” for impairment of goodwill.
Financial instruments - initial recognition, subsequent measurement and impairment:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

1) Financial assets -Initial recognition and measurement:

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
However, Trade Receivable that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at transaction price.

Financial assets - Subsequent measurement:

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two broad categories: -
a) Financial assets at fair value

b) Financial assets at amortised cost

Where assets are measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recognised entirely in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss (i.e. fair value through profit or loss) or recognised in other comprehensive income (i.e.
fair value through other comprehensive income).

A financial asset that meets the following two conditions is measured at amortised cost (net of any write down for
impairment) unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option.

a) Business model test: The objective of the Group's business model is to hold the financial asset to collect the
contractual cash flow.

b)  Cash flow characteristics test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flow that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset that meets the following two conditions is measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option.

a) Business model test: The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flow and selling financial assets.

b)  Cash flow characteristics test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flow that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets - Equity Investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture:

The Group has accounted for its equity investment in associate and joint venture at cost.
Financial assets - Derecognition:

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
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derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:
a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

b)  The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flow from the assets.

c) The Group has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Impairment of financial assets

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Group uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of
financial assets other than those measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

Expected credit losses are measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

a) The 12-months expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on the
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date); or

b) Full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over
the life of the financial instrument).

For trade receivables Group applies ‘simplified approach’ which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables. The Group uses historical default rates to determine impairment loss on
the portfolio of trade receivables. At every reporting date these historical default rates are reviewed and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

For other assets, the Group uses 12-month ECL to provide for impairment loss where there is no significant increase
in credit risk. If there is significant increase in credit risk full lifetime ECL is used.

The recoverable amount is determined based on value in use or fair value less cost to sell calculations which require
the use of assumptions as directly observable market prices generally do not exist for the Group’s assets. However,
fair value may be estimated based on recent transactions on comparable assets, internal models used by the Group
for transactions involving the same type of assets or other relevant information. Calculation of value in use is a
discounted cash flow calculation based on continued use of the assets in its present condition, excluding potential
exploitation of improvement or expansion potential

Financial liabilities - Initial recognition and measurement:

The financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans, borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities - Subsequent measurement:

Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. For trade and
other payables maturing within one year from the reporting date, the carrying amounts approximate at their fair
value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

Financial Liabilities - Financial guarantee contracts:

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the amount of loss allowance determined and the amount
recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Financial Liabilities - Derecognition:

Financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another, from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.



Notes to the Consolidated financial statements
For the year Ended March 31, 2025

2.14 Leases:

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed. Contingent and variable rentals are recognized as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred.

Lease Liability

The lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions. To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses a build-up approach that
starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk and makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, security
etc.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to Consolidated statement
of profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period. The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made. The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) to reflect any reassessment, lease modification or revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

Right of Use (ROU) Assets

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For short term
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as other expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed. Contingent and variable rentals are recognized as expense in the periods in which they are incurred.

The Right of Use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right of Use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset using
straight line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated
over the underlying asset’s useful life. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease

Extension and termination options are included in many of the leases. In determining the lease term, the management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a
termination option.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Classification of Leases

The Group evaluates if an arrangement qualifies to be a lease as per the requirements of Ind AS 116. Identification of a
lease requires significant judgement. The Group uses significant judgement in assessing the lease term (including
anticipated renewals) and the applicable discount rate. The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable
period of a lease, together with both periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise those options; and periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Group is reasonably certain not
to exercise those options. In assessing whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend a lease, or
not to exercise an option to terminate a lease, it considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic
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incentive for the Group to exercise the option to extend the lease, or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. The
Group revises the lease term if there is a change in the non-cancellable period of a lease. The discount rate is generally
based on the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lease being evaluated or for a portfolio of leases with similar
characteristics

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, Contingent assets and Commitments:

Provisions are recognized when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is
probable (“more likely than not”) that it is required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the estimated cash flows to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money in that jurisdiction and the risks specific to the liability.

Contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from a past event, with the resolution of the contingency dependent
on uncertain future events, or a present obligation where no outflow is probable. Material contingent liabilities are
disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of economic resources is remote. Contingent
assets are not recognized in financial statements unless it is virtually certain that the future event will confirm the asset’s
existence, and the asset will be realised.

Management has estimated the possible outflow of resources at the end of each annual reporting financial year, if any, in
respect of contingencies/claim/litigations against the Group as it is not possible to predict the outcome of pending
matters with accuracy

Provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds
resulting from past operations or events and the amount of cash outflow can be reliably estimated. The timing of
recognition and quantification of the liability require the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances,
which can be subject to change. Since the cash outflows can take place many years in the future, the carrying amounts of
provisions and liabilities are reviewed regularly and adjusted to take account of changing facts and circumstances

Revenue recognition and other income:
Sales of goods:

The Group sells a range of pharmaceutical and cosmetic products. Sales are recognised when control of the products is
transferred, which occurs when the products are delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the
channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume
discounts and goods and service tax. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts, using the
expected value method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. A refund liability (included in other current liabilities) and a right to recover the returned goods (included in
other current assets) are recognised for the products expected to be returned. Accumulated experience is used to
estimate such returns at the time of sale at a portfolio level.

No significant element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term consistent with market
practice. Receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Sales of services:

The Group provides services of delivery person, software, diagnostic services such as testing and imaging, technology
platform and manpower services. Revenue is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered. For fixed-price
contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of
the total services to be provided. Revenue from testing and imaging services is recognized at a point in time once the
testing samples are processed for requisitioned diagnostic tests.
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Some contracts include multiple performance obligations, such as the sale of hardware and sale of software. The
hardware can be procured from any other party and does not include an integration service.

It is therefore accounted for as a separate performance obligation. If contracts include the sale of hardware, revenue for
the hardware is recognised at a point in time when the hardware is delivered, the legal title has passed, and the customer
has accepted the hardware. Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.

The customer pays a fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, contract liability is recognised. If
the contract includes an hourly fee, revenue is recognized in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice. The
revenue is measured based on transaction price, which is the fair value of consideration received or receivable, and is net
of discounts, allowances, returns, goods and service tax.

Customers are invoiced on a periodic basis and consideration is payable when invoiced in accordance with the credit
period.

Interest Income:

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Foreign currency reinstatement and translation:

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency closing rates of exchange
at the reporting date.

Exchange differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in consolidated statement of
profit and loss except to the extent of exchange differences which are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
foreign currency borrowings that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, are
capitalized as cost of assets.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transaction. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or
profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit and loss, within finance costs. All other finance gains / losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit
and loss on a net basis.

In case of an asset, expense or income where a non-monetary advance is paid/received, the date of transaction is the date
on which the advance was initially recognized. If there were multiple payments or receipts in advance, multiple dates of
transactions are determined for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Employee Benefits:

Short-term employee benefits are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss of the year in which the
related services are rendered.

Compensated absences are accounted as Short-term employee benefits and are determined based on projected unit credit
method, on the basis of actuarial valuations carried out by third party actuaries at each reporting date.

The obligations relating to compensated absences are presented as current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet if
the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period,
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
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Contribution to Provident Fund, a defined contribution plan, is made in accordance with the statute, and is recognised as an
expense in the year in which employees have rendered services.

The cost of providing gratuity, a defined benefit plan, is determined based on Projected Unit Credit Method on the basis of
actuarial valuations carried out by third party actuaries at each reporting date. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise. Other costs are accounted in the statement of profit and loss.

Remeasurements of defined benefit plan in respect of post-employment and other long-term benefits are charged to the other
comprehensive income in the year in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to statement of profit and
loss in subsequent periods.

The Cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of such obligation are
determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from
actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality
rates and attrition rate. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date

Share-based payments:

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured at fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value of share options is determined with the assistance of an external valuer and the fair value at the grant date is
expensed on a proportionate basis over the vesting period based on the Holding Company’s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The equity instruments generally vest in a graded manner over the vesting period. The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. The fair value
determined at the grant date is expensed over the vesting period of the respective tranches of such grants. At the end of
each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where shares are forfeited due to a failure by the employee to satisfy the service conditions, any expenses previously
recognised in relation to such shares are reversed effective from the date of forfeiture. Cancellation or settlements are
accounted as an acceleration of vesting, and therefore recognised immediately the amount that otherwise would have
been recognised for services received over the remainder of the vesting period.

If new equity instruments are granted to the employee and, on the date when those new equity instruments are granted,
Group identifies the new equity instruments granted as replacement equity instruments for the cancelled equity
instruments, the Group accounts for granting of replacement equity instruments in the same way as a modification of the
original grant of equity instruments. When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the Group recognizes as a
minimum, the services received measured at the grant date fair value of the equity instruments granted, unless those
equity instruments do not vest because of failure to satisfy a vesting condition (other than a market condition) that was
specified at grant date. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Payments made to the employee on the settlement of the options is accounted for as the repurchase of an equity
interest, i.e. as a deduction from equity, except to the extent that the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognised as an expense and presented as
cash flow from operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Any excess or shortfall between the repurchase date
fair value and grant date fair value and excess in repurchase date fair value over the payments made is transferred to
retained earnings. Amounts paid to the extent of the repurchase date fair value are presented as cash flow from financing
activities in the statement of cash flows.
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Income Taxes:
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the Consolidated statement of profit and loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group’s entities operate
and generate taxable income using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Where the local currency is not
the functional currency, deferred tax is recognised on temporary difference arising from exchange rate changes between
the closing rate and the historical purchase price of non-monetary assets translated at the exchange rate at the date of
purchase if those non-monetary assets have tax consequences.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference, and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences, and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally, the group is unable to control the
reversal of the temporary difference for associates.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the Consolidated statement of profit and loss, except when they relate to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

The Group applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Uncertain tax positions
are reflected in the overall measurement of tax expense of respective group entities and are based on the most likely
amount or expected value that is to be disallowed by the taxing authorities in respective group entities, whichever better
predict the resolution of uncertainty. Uncertain tax balances are monitored and updated as and when new information
becomes available, typically upon examination or action by the taxing authorities or through statute expiration.
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The Group considers when a particular amount payable for interest and penalties on income taxes is determined to be
within the scope of Ind AS 37, it is presented as part of financing cost or other expenses, respectively unless when there is
an overall settlement with tax authority and the interest and penalties cannot be identified separately in which case it is
determined to be part of income taxes and accounted under Ind AS 12.

The Group calculates income tax expenses based on reported income. Deferred income tax expense is calculated based on
the differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax
basis that are considered temporary in nature. Valuation of deferred tax assets is dependent on management’s
assessment of future recoverability of the deferred tax benefit. Expected recoverability may result from expected taxable
income in the future, planned transactions or planned tax optimizing measures. Economic conditions may change and lead
to a different conclusion regarding recoverability.

The Group is subject to tax assessments and ongoing proceedings, which are pending before various Tax Authorities of
respective countries. Management periodically evaluates the positions taken in tax returns with respect to the above
matters, including unresolved tax disputes, which involve interpretation of applicable tax regulations and judicial
precedents. Current tax liability and tax asset balances are presented, after recognising as appropriate, provision for taxes
payable and contingencies basis Management’s assessment of outcome of such ongoing proceedings and amounts that
may become payable to the tax authorities.

Considering the nature of such estimates and uncertainties involved the amount of such provisions may change upon final
resolution of the matters with tax authorities

Borrowing Costs:

The Group amortize financing costs and premiums, and accrete discounts, over the remaining life of the related debt using
the effective interest amortization method, unless the impact of utilizing the straight-line method results in an immaterial
difference. General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the asset is substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. The Group considers a period of twelve months or more as a substantial period of time. Qualifying assets are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. Transaction costs in
respect of long-term borrowings are amortised over the tenure of respective loans using effective interest method. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization.

Exceptional Items:

The Group considers certain items of income/ (expenses) as exceptional items and are presented separately. These items
are considered to be part of ordinary activities, however, are of such significance and nature that separate disclosure
enables the user of the financial statements to understand the impact in a more meaningful manner. Such items are
identified by virtue of their size, nature and incidence so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess
underlying trends in the financial performance of the Group.

Segment Reporting:

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”)
to make decisions for which discrete financial information is available. The Group prepares its segment information in
conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group as a
whole. The CODM assesses the financial performance and position of the Group and makes strategic decisions. Operating
segments are reported in a Manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the CODM.

Current and non-current classification:
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification.

The Group has presented non-current assets and current assets before equity, non-current liabilities and current liabilities
in accordance with Schedule lll, Division Il of Companies Act, 2013 notified by MCA.

An asset is classified as current when it is:
a) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle,
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2.27
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b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading,

c) Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

d) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when it is:

a) Expected to be settled in normal operating cycle,

b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading,

c) Due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

e) There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash or cash
equivalents. Deferred tax assets / liabilities are classified as non-current assets / liabilities. The Group has identified twelve
months as its normal operating cycle.

Off-setting financial Instrument:

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group
or the counterparty.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, the accompanying disclosures and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. The key assumptions
concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial
statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change
due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in
the assumptions when they occur.

Going concern assessment:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, considering the business plan for 12
months from the reporting period as approved by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and that of its
subsidiaries and associates, which includes assets monetisation, unutilised credit facility and financing arrangement
formalized through a term sheet received subsequent to the reporting period. Based on the above, the group is confident
of its ability to meet the funds requirement and to continue its business as a going concern and accordingly, the financial
statements have been prepared on that basis.

Investments:

A judgement is involved in determining whether the investor has a significant influence over the investee. It is dependent
on various factors such as the quantum of investments, representation on board of directors or other governing bodies,
participation in policy making processes, including decisions on dividend distributions, material transactions between
investor and investee, interchange of managerial personnel or provision of essential technical information.

Property, Plant and Equipment, and Other Intangible Assets:

Management reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of the assets annually in order to determine the amount
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of depreciation to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives and residual values as per schedule Il of the
Companies Act, 2013 or are based on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes, whichever is more appropriate.

Recent Accounting pronouncements:

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 2025, The Ministry of
Corporate Affairs vide notification dated 9 September 2024 and 28 September 2024 notified the Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Second Amendment Rules, 2024 and Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Third Amendment Rules, 2024,
respectively, which amended/ notified certain accounting standards (see below), and are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2024:

e Insurance contracts - Ind AS 117; and
o Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to Ind AS 116

These amendments did not have any material impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Goodwill

Particulars Amount
Balance as at April 1, 2023 83,626.45

Addition during the year 37.49

Balance as at March 31, 2024 83,663.94

Balance as at April 1, 2024 83,663.94
Addition during the year (Refer Note 51) 41.82

Deletion during the year (Refer Note 51) (70.28)
Balance as at March 31, 2025 83,635.48

Accumulated Impairment

Balance as at April 1, 2023 40,927.10
Impairment during the year 5,825.00
Balance as at March 31, 2024 46,752.10
Balance as at April 1, 2024 46,752.10
Impairment during the year 1,750.00
Balance as at March 31, 2025 48,502.10
Net carrying value as on March 31, 2024 36,911.84
Net carrying value as on March 31, 2025 35,133.38
Note

i. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and also as and when impairment indicators emerge. For the purpose of Goodwill impairment, each
subsidiary/business unit is considered as separate Cash Generating Unit (CGU).

The recoverable amount of a CGU is based on higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participant at measurement date. Value in use is present value of future cash flows
expected to be derived from an asset (CGU). The value in use is estimated using discounted cash flows over a period of 5 years and cash flows beyond 5 years is
estimated by capitalising the future maintainable cash flows by an appropriate capitalisation rate and then discounted using appropriate discount rate. This fair
value measurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on inputs in the valuation technique used.

Impairment of non financial assets
For impairment testing, goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the Distribution to Chemist/ institutions, Distribution to
Retailers, IT operations and Diagnostics CGUs.

Following are the details with respect to carrying amount of goodwill allocated to various CGUs:

As at March 31, 2025

Particulars Gross carrying Impairment Net carrying
value value

Distribution of Medicine products and other services

Distribution to Chemist/ institutions 14,393.94 4,054.52 10,339.42

Distribution to Retailers 10,448.46 7,575.00 2,873.46

IT operations 9,158.67 9,158.67 -
(A) 34,001.07 20,788.19 13,212.88

Diagnostic, Testing and Imaging Services

Diagnostics 49,634.41 27,713.91 21,920.50
(B) 49,634.41 27,713.91 21,920.50

Total (A)+(B) 83,635.48 48,502.10 35,133.38

As at March 31, 2024

Particulars Gross carrying Impairment Net carrying
value value

Distribution of Medicine products and other services

Distribution to Chemist/ institutions 14,464.22 4,054.52 10,409.70

Distribution to Retailers 10,448.46 5,825.00 4,623.46

IT operations 9,158.67 9,158.67 -
(A) 34,071.35 19,038.19 15,033.16

Diagnostic, Testing and Imaging Services

Diagnostics 49,592.59 27,713.91 21,878.68
(B) 49,592.59 27,713.91 21,878.68

Total (A)+(B) 83,663.94 46,752.10 36,911.84

The Group performed its annual impairment test as of the reporting date for year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024. Basis the said testing it has been
determined that goodwill has been impaired in case of Distribution to Retailers CGU as of March 31, 2025 (March 31, 2024: Distribution to Chemist/ institutions,
Distribution to Retailers, IT operations and Diagnostics CGUs). Considering the outlook of the current economic environment and other macro economic factors,
management has drawn an operating plan in light of the latest available information. Basis the operating plan, a downward revision to projections was
necessitated and accordingly, it has been determined that an impairment would be required to be considered in the financial statements.
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as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

Distribution to Chemist/ institutions CGU

Distribution to Chemist/ institutions typically includes selling goods to the pharmacies and hospitals, both directly as well as using technology provided by
Retailers. The recoverable amount of the Distribution to Chemist/ institutions CGU, Rs. 20,802.43 as at March 31, 2025 (Rs. 21,550.04 as at March 31, 2024),
has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by the management covering a five-year
period. The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the current market situation. These projected cash flows are discounted to the present value
using a weighted average cost of capital (discount rate). The discount rate is commensurate with the risk inherent in the projected cash flows and reflects the
rate of return required by an investor in the current economic conditions. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections for impairment testing
during the current year is 19.40% (March 31, 2024: 14.79%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a 4.00% growth rate (March 31,
2024 : 4.00%) that is the same as the long-term average growth rate for similar companies in the industry. As a result of this analysis, management has
recognised an impairment charge is Nil (March 31, 2024: Nil) in the current year against goodwill. The impairment charge is recorded in the statement of profit
and loss and presented as an exceptional item.

Distribution to Retailers CGU

Distribution to retailers typically includes selling goods to the registered sellers on the PharmEasy marketplace. The recoverable amount of the Distribution to
Retailers CGU as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 has been determined using the fair value less cost to sell ('FVLCTS') approach. FVLCTS (level 3) is
determined by an independent valuer using revenue based multiples derived from comparable listed companies in the world. During the year, There was a
decline in revenue multiples of comparable companies as compared to previous year which has resulted in impairment charge of Rs. 1,750.00 (March 31, 2024:
Rs. 5,825.00) in the current year against goodwill. The impairment charge is recorded in the statement of profit and loss and presented as an exceptional item
(refer note 43).

IT operations CGU

IT operations includes operations related to technology platform and sale of software. The recoverable amount of the IT operations CGU, is Nil as at March 31,
2025 (Nil as at March 31, 2024), has been determined using the fair value less cost to sell ('FVLCTS') approach. FVLCTS (level 3) is determined by an independent
valuer using venture capital ('VC') method. VC method is most common approach to value young / pre-revenue companies. It is valuation based on expectation
of venture capital investor. Investors will seek a return equal to some multiple of their initial investment or will seek to achieve a specific internal rate of return
based upon the level of risk they perceive in the venture. VC method incorporates this understanding and uses the relevant time frame in discounting a future
value attributable to the firm. As a result, management has recognised an impairment charge of Nil (March 31, 2024: Nil) in the current year against goodwill.
The impairment charge is recorded in the statement of profit and loss and presented as an exceptional item (refer note 43).

Diagnostics CGU

Diagnostic services are provided to hospitals, diagnostic companies, independent phlebotomists and consumers including on PharmEasy marketplace. The
recoverable amount of the Diagnostics CGU, Rs. 36,644.13 as at March 31, 2025 (March 31, 2024 : Rs 31,898.30), has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by the management covering a five-year period. The projected cash flows have been
updated to reflect the current market situation. These projected cash flows are discounted to the present value using a weighted average cost of capital
(discount rate). The discount rate is commensurate with the risk inherent in the projected cash flows and reflects the rate of return required by an investor in
the current economic conditions. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections for impairment testing during the current year is 15.18% (March 31,
2024 : 15.78%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a 5.00% growth rate (March 31, 2024: 5.00%) that is the same as the long-
term average growth rate for similar companies in the industry.

Following key assumptions were considered while performing impairment testing : -

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars Distribution to Distribution to
Chemist/ Diagnostics Chemist/ Diagnostics
institutions institutions
Terminal growth rate 4% 5% 4% 5%
Revenue growth rate 10% to 20% 9% to 22% 20% to 25% 9% to 22%
Weighted Average Cost of Capital % (WACC) (Discount rate) 19.40% 15.18% 14.79% 15.78%

Sensitivity Analysis:
The table below provides the revised value of recoverable amount for any reasonable possible change in key assumptions:

As at March 31, 2025

. N Increase in Decrease in
R Carrying value of | Recoverable Decrease in N R
Particulars cGU value of CGU | revenue by 1% discount rate | terminal growth
v by 0.25% rate by 0.25%
Distribution to Chemist/ institutions CGU 21,312.24 20,254.31 19,403.84 19,733.55 19,941.81
Distribution to Retailers 12,041.77 4,518.26 4,473.42 NA NA
Diagnostics CGU 58,780.04 36,644.13 30,919.39 31,169.28 31,393.44
As at March 31, 2024
. . Increase in Decrease in
R Carrying value of | Recoverable Decrease in N )
Particulars cGU value of CGU | revenue by 1% discount rate | terminal growth
Y by 0.25% rate by 0.25%
Distribution to Chemist/ institutions CGU 25,500.03 22,531.25 15,602.10 21,869.16 22,109.29
Distribution to Retailers 12,393.83 6,582.21 6,515.92 NA NA
Diagnostics CGU 59,221.53 31,898.30 30,651.49 30,847.51 31,085.67
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Other intangible assets

Particulars Computer software Brand Name Technology platform . Othf I: Custome‘r Corttract Non Compete Total
int Relationship agreement
Gross carrying amount
Balance as at April 1, 2023 187.66 1,923.01 664.83 64.29 4,488.19 58.60 | 7,386.58
Additions 61.17 - - - - - 61.17
Disposals/ adjustments (4.19) - - - - - (4.19)
Balance as at March 31, 2024 244.64 1,923.01 664.83 64.29 4,488.19 58.60 | 7,443.56
Balance as at April 1, 2024 244.64 1,923.01 664.83 64.29 4,488.19 58.60 | 7,443.56
Additions 43.94 - - 9.24 23.44 9.96 86.58
Disposals/ adjustments (1.93) - - - - - (1.93)
Balance as at March 31, 2025 286.65 1,923.01 664.83 73.53 4,511.63 68.56 | 7,528.21
Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at April 1, 2023 117.76 348.74 277.87 31.13 826.53 42.50 1,644.53
Amortisation expense 52.04 187.00 150.28 1.59 519.86 22.64 933.41
Disposals/ adjustments (2.66) - - 25.71 - (25.71) (2.66)
Balance as at March 31, 2024 167.14 535.74 428.15 58.43 1,346.39 39.43 2,575.28
Balance as at April 1, 2024 167.14 535.74 428.15 58.43 1,346.39 39.43 | 2,575.28
Amortisation expense 79.19 78.80 149.38 2.84 316.06 1.39 627.66
Disposals/ adjustments (1.07) - - - - - (1.07)
Balance as at March 31, 2025 245.26 614.54 577.53 61.27 1,662.45 40.82 | 3,201.87
Accumulated Impairment Allowance
Balance as at April 1, 2023 - - - - - - -
Recognised/ (Reversal) 3.37 3.43 - - 368.09 19.18 394.07
Balance as at March 31, 2024 3.37 3.43 - - 368.09 19.18 394.07
Balance as at April 1, 2024 3.37 3.43 - - 368.09 19.18 394.07
Recognised/ (Reversal) 1.71 - - - - - 1.71
Balance as at March 31, 2025 5.08 3.43 - - 368.09 19.18 395.77
Net carrying amount as on March 31, 2024 74.13 1,383.84 236.68 5.86 2,773.72 (0.01)| 4,474.21
Net carrying amount as on March 31, 2025 36.31 1,305.04 87.30 12.26 2,481.09 8.56 3,930.57

Refer note 27 for details of assets pledged as security towards secured loan

from banks and financial institutions.

Intangible assets under development

Particulars Amount
Balance as at April 1, 2023 10.74
Addition during the year 43.46
Capitalised during the year (44.72)
Balance as at March 31, 2024 9.48
Balance as at April 1, 2024 9.48
Addition during the year -
Capitalised during the year (9.48)
Balance as at March 31, 2025 -
As at March 31, 2025

Intangible assets under development Amount in ible assets under development for a period of

Projects in Progress

less than 1 year |

1-2 Years |

Total

**Order Management System (OMS)

As at March 31, 2024

Intangible assets under development

Amount in Intangible assets under development for a period of

Projects in Progress

less than 1 year

1-2 Years

Total

**Order Management System (OMS)

9.48

9.48

**None of the projects have exceeded their budgeted timelines/cost.

Note:

(i) Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and are amortised from the point at which the asset is available for use.

(i) This represents cost towards development of the Group Company's inhouse software called OMS Software for Inventory Management including tracking of inventory and stock report.
(iii) During the year, the Group has capitalised Rs. 9.48 (March 31, 2024: 44.72) relating to various module of the OMS software available for use in the live environment.
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Investments accounted for using the equity method

Particulars Asat As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
in equity inst ( d) - d at equity method
429,185 (March 31, 2024: 429,185) equity shares of Rs 10 each fully paid up of Equinox Labs Private Limited 237.50 227.42
650,000 (March 31, 2024: 650,000) equity shares of Rs 10 each fully paid up of Impex Healthcare Private Limited 198.13 195.67
Nil (March 31, 2024: 4,917,499) Equity Shares of Rs 10 each, fully paid of Marg ERP Limited * # - 2,594.15
95,630 (March 31, 2024: 95,630) equity shares of Rs 10 each fully paid up of Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited 4.17 28.79
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments (198.13) (1,298.00)
241.67 1,748.03

* This comprises Goodwill is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 2,347.93)

# On December 12, 2024, the Company has entered into an agreement to sell its investment in Marg ERP Limited for a consideration of Rs.1,018.44 and the said shares has been

transferred on February 12, 2025.

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Aggregate amount of quoted investments - -
Aggregate market value of quoted investments - -
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 439.80 3,046.03
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments 198.13 1,298.00
(i) The above Associates are unlisted entities, hence quoted price is not available.
(ii) Equinox Labs Private Limited is engaged in the business of testing and analysis of food, water and air samples. This business complements business of diagnostic services.
(iii) Impex Healthcare Private Limited is engaged in wholesale trading of medical supplies. The services complements Group's distribution of pharmaceutical goods business.
(iv) Marg ERP Limited is engaged in providing ERP solutions to entities in healthcare sector. Its products complements Group's distribution of pharmaceutical goods business.
(v) Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited is engaged in the business of providing healthcare and diagnostics services to customers.
(vi) Refer note 53 for Ownership interest held by the group.
Investments (non-current)
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
in equity inst { d) - i at fair value through profit and loss
10 Equity Shares (March 31, 2024: 10) of Health Arx Technologies Private Limited of Rs 10 each, fully paid-up 0.01 0.01
1,999,000 (March 31, 2024: 1,999,000) Equity Shares of Rs 10 each, fully paid of Aarman Solutions Private Limited 22.09 21.49
Other ( 1) - d at fair value through profit and loss
7,996,000 (March 31, 2024: 7,996,000) Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Rs 10 each, fully paid of Aarman 88.36 85.96
Solutions Private Limited {Refer note 53(g)}
31,990 (March 31, 2024: 31,990) Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Health Arx Technologies Private Limited of Rs 58.45 58.45
10 each, fully paid-up
305 (March 31, 2024: 305) Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Rs 10 each, fully paid Prost Technologies Private 8.71 871
Limited
177.62 174.62
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Aggregate cost of quoted investments - -
Aggregate market value of quoted investments - -
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 177.62 174.62
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments - -
Other financial assets (non-current)
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Security deposit 219.00 221.11
Bank deposits with more than 12 months remaining maturity (Refer note below) 23.99 22.28
Application money paid towards securities in jointly controlled entity 10.61 -
Receivable on business transfer 7.60 6.56
261.20 249.95
Notes
(i) Refer note 27 for details of assets pledged as security towards secured loan from banks and financial institutions.
(ii) Bank Deposits of Rs. 7.24 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 2.10) are under lien with the Banks against the Bank Guarantees issued to customers for execution of tenders.
(iii) The Company has created a charge over the deposits of Rs. 105.00 (March 31, 2024 : Rs. 20.12) as a security against secured borrowings (refer note 27).
Deferred tax assets (net)
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Deferred tax assets (refer note 45) 144.13 426.98
Deferred tax liabilities (refer note 45) (1,344.57) (1,732.70)
Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) (1,200.44) (1,305.72)
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Income tax assets (net)
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Income tax receivable 568.92 758.44
568.92 758.44
Other non-current assets
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated
Prepaid expenses 10.77 14.02
Balances with government authorities# 1,659.23 1,002.72
Less : Provision for balances with government authorities (refer note below) (1,634.08) (937.86)
Capital advances 2.79 25.80
38.71 104.68

Note:

(i) The provision for balances with government authorities have been accounted for to comply with the accounting standards, strictly without prejudice to the Group Company's
legal rights, claims, remedies and contentions available under applicable laws and regulations.

# It Includes amount paid under protest against pending provident fund litigation

Inventories
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Stock-in-trade 5,083.23 5,086.98
Stores and consumables 455.68 468.62
5,538.91 5,555.60
Note:

i) Inventories of traded goods include stock-in-transit of Rs. 178.67 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 126.87)

i) Write-downs of expiry items amounted to Rs. 195.02 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 292.38)

iii) Write-down of inventories to its net realisable value amounted to Nil (March 31, 2024: Nil)

iv) The Group has provided exclusive charge over its inventories as a security against the secured borrowing of certain subsidiaries. Refer note 27 for details of assets pledged as
security towards secured loan from banks and financial institutions.

Current investments

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Current investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Investment in mutual funds 1,373.64 1,367.55
1,373.64 1,367.55
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Aggregate cost of quoted investments 1,305.70 1,319.00
Aggregate market value of quoted investments 1,373.64 1,367.55

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments - -
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments - -

Trade receivables

Particulars As at Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Billed

Trade receivables - Secured, considered good - 46.50

Trade receivable - Unsecured, considered good 10,000.78 9,344.42

Unbilled

Trade receivable - Unsecured, considered good 21.75 10.25

Total 10,022.53 9,401.17

Less: Expected credit loss allowance {refer note 47 (b)} (3,327.45) (2,339.07)

Total trade receivables 6,695.08 7,062.10
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API Holdings Limited
Notes to the i fi ial as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

16 Cash and cash equivalents

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Cash on hand 25.21 27.42

Cheques in hand 0.61 27.10

Balances with banks

- in current accounts 1,009.68 1,193.10

- in deposit accounts with original maturity of 3 months or less. 154.41 2,032.27

1,189.91 3,279.89

Notes:

(i) There is no restriction with regard to cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the current year and previous year

(ii) Refer note 27 for details of assets pledged as security towards secured loan from banks and financial institutions.

17 Other bank balances

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Balances with banks

- in deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months and less than 12 months (refer note (i) to (iv) below) 6,207.66 12,825.02

6,207.66 12,825.02

Refer note 27 for details of assets pledged as security towards secured loan from banks and financial institutions.

Details of bank balances / deposits

Bank deposits due to mature within 12 months of the reporting date included under 'Other bank balances 6,207.66 12,825.02

Notes:

(i) Bank deposits of Rs. 366.31 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 305.20) are with the banks against the bank guarantees issued to customers for execution of tenders.

(i) Bank deposits is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 0.18) are with the bank for corporate credit card facility availed by one subsidiary

(iii) Bank deposits of Rs. 686.54 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 921.22) are with the bank against the short-term credit facilities

(iv) This also includes amounts lying with banks which is held by the Group for the purpose of pooling the monies collected from all the customers and facilitating the subsequent

payouts to the Service provider Rs.0.09 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 7.38). {refer note 29(iii)}

18 Loans (current)

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Unsecured, considered good
Loan to equity accounted investees* - 693.34
Loan to employees 0.43 2.24
Unsecured, considered doubtful
Loan to equity accounted investees* 453.82 -
Less: Expected credit loss allowance (453.82) -
0.43 695.58
Break-up of security details
(a) Loan receivables considered good - secured - -
(b) Loans receivables considered good - unsecured 0.43 695.58
(c) Loans receivables which have significant increase in credit risk - -
(d) Loans receivable - credit impaired 453.82 -
Less: Expected credit loss allowance (453.82) -
0.43 695.58

* Loan to associates have been given to meet their working capital requirements.
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20

Other financial assets (Current)

Asat As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Particulars

Unsecured, considered good

Security deposits 81.48 115.24
Interest accrued but not due 264.01 233.87
Wallet balance 54.02 49.51
Claims receivable from supplier 315.11 403.40
Other receivables * 201.53 60.60
Unsecured, considered doubtful
Claims receivable from supplier 503.46 170.17
Less: Provision for claims receivable from supplier (503.46) (170.17)
Security deposits 15.98 2.79
Less: Allowance for doubtful deposits (15.98) (2.79)
Interest receivable (considered doubtful) 118.25 -
Less: Allowance for doubtful interest receivable (118.25) -
916.15 862.62

*Other receivables mainly comprises:
(i) Reimbursement of expenses recoverable from certain shareholders and amount collected by delivery persons on behalf of retailers for its subsequent payments to the retailers.

Corresponding liability is included in other current financial liabilities (refer note 29).

(ii) Amounts held by the Company for the purpose of pooling the monies collected from all the customers and facilitating the subsequent payouts to the service provider is Rs.56.65
(March 31, 2024 - Rs.34.72).
(iii) Amounts paid in advance towards acquisition of business is Rs. 79.97 (March 31, 2024 - Nil).

Other current assets

As at Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Particulars

Unsecured, considered good

Balances with government authorities 2,112.27 2,859.67
Less: Provision for balance with government authorities (refer note (ii) below) (1,004.52) (1,719.75)
Advances to suppliers 647.35 382.75
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind 102.22 233.67
Right to recover returned goods (refer note (iii) below) 1,104.14 1,060.63
Prepaid expenses 85.01 101.11
Indemnification asset 128.50 128.50
Advances to employees 16.05 22.52
Other assets* 5.42 2.18
Unsecured, considered doubtful
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind 113 156.18
Less: Provision for advances recoverable in cash or in kind (1.13) (156.18)
Advances to suppliers 560.23 42.80
Less: Provision for advance to suppliers (560.23) (42.80)
3,196.44 307128
Note:

(i) Refer note 27 for details of assets pledged as security towards secured loan from banks and financial institutions.

(ii) The provision for balances with government authorities have been accounted for to comply with the accounting standards, strictly without prejudice to the Group Company's
legal rights, claims, remedies and contentions available under applicable laws and regulations.

(iii) The Group recognizes a refund liability for amounts received from customers who have a right to return products within a specified period, Rs. 1,219.56 (Rs. 1,162.14 as of
March 31, 2024), Refer note 30. In addition, the Group recognizes a right to recover the returned goods, measured at the former carrying amount of Rs. 1,104.14 (Rs. 1,060.63 as of
March 31, 2024). The costs associated with recovering the products are not expected to be material.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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21 Share capital
Particulars As at Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Authorised

Equity shares

30,00,00,00,000 equity shares of Rs.1/- each 30,000.00 30,000.00
(March 31, 2024 - 30,00,00,00,000 equity shares of Rs.1/- each)

30,000.00 30,000.00

Issued, subscribed and fully paid up
Equity shares

6,51,66,68,712 equity shares of Rs.1/- each 6,516.67 6,240.44
March 31, 2024 - 6,24,04,35,432 equity shares of Rs.1/- each)

6,516.67 6,240.44
(i) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at end of the reporting period:
Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
Equity shares
Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year 6,240,435,432 6,240.44 6,142,041,070 6,142.04
Conversion of C ily Convertible e Shares (CCPS- Series A) into Equity {refer note (ii) (a) below} 628,512 0.63 246,922 0.25
Conversion of C ily Convertible e Shares (CCPS- Series B) into Equity {refer note (ii) (b) below} 197,667,140 197.66 98,147,440 98.15
Shares issued on exercise of employee stock options {refer note (ii) (c) below} (including 62,552,840 bonus shares) 77,937,629 77.94 - -
Pre sub division of equity shares 6,516,668,713 6,516.67 6,240,435,432 6,240.44
Shares outstanding at the end of the year 6,516,668,713 6,516.67 6,240,435,432 6,240.44
(ii) Notes

(a) During the year ended March 31, 2025, pursuant to the following Board Resolutions the Group has converted the following fully paid Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS Series A) into 628,512 (March 31,
2024: 2,46,922) Equity shares having face value Rs 1 each, such that the effective price per equity share issued pursuant to conversion of CCPS Series A is Rs. 4.356 per share

(b) During the year ended March 31, 2025, pursuant to the following Board Resolutions the Group has converted the following fully paid Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS Series B) into 197,667,140
(March 31, 2024: 98,147,440) Equity shares having face value Rs 1 each, in the ratio of 20 fully paid Equity Shares of Rs. 1 each for every 1 (One) Fully paid-up CCPS B.

(c) During the year ended March 31, 2025, pursuant to the following Board Resolutions the Group has the Company has allotted 7,79,37,629 (March 31, 2024: NIL) following Equity shares having face value of Re.1 each,
respectively pursuant to the exercise of options by employees/directors of the Company under API Holdings Limited — Employee Stock Option Plan 2020.

(iii) Rights, and icti to the shares:

Equity shares have a par value of Rs 1 each (March 31, 2024: Rs 1 each). The shareholders of the Company are entitled to vote on poll for the fully paid-up equity shares held by them in proportion to the shareholders'
share in the paid-up equity share capital of the Company. All equity shares rank pari passu with each other subject to any contractual right that certain Investors may have in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the assets and available proceeds shall be discharged in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company.

(iv) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% of a class of equity shares in the Company:

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

No. of shares % of holding No. of shares % of holding
Equity shares
Naspers Ventures B. V. 813,316,570 12.48% 813,316,570 13.03%
MacRitchie Investments Pte. Ltd. 732,516,290 11.24% 732,516,290 11.74%
TPG Growth V SF Markets Pte. Ltd 449,492,340 6.90% 449,492,340 7.20%
Evermed Holdings Pte. Ltd. 396,033,000 6.08% 396,033,000 6.35%

(v) Shares reserved for issue under options:
The Group has reserved following equity shares for issuance as follows:
ESOPs issued to employees pursuant to various ESOP Schemes of the company (refer note 52)

(vi) Details of aggregate number of shares issued for consideration other than cash during preceding 5 years
Particulars No. of shares

As at Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Bonus shares issued 577,188,228 577,188,228
Issued pursuant to Scheme of Amalgamation 868,337 868,337
Issued pursuant to Conversion of CCD, CCPS, ORCD, Employee Stock option and share warrant into Equity 117,475,297 19,080,935

(vii) The Group has not bought back any shares from incorporation till date.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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22 Instruments entirely equity in nature

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Authorised
Preference shares
5,00,00,00,000 Compulsory convertible preference shares of Rs. 1/- each (March 31, 2024: 5,00,00,00,000 5,000.00 5,000.00
Compulsory convertible preference shares of Rs. 1 each)
5,000.00 5,000.00
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up
Preference shares
5,47,96,593 (March 31, 2024: 5,48,23,971) Compulsorily convertible preference shares (CCPS- Series A) of Rs. 54.79 54.82
100 each fully paid up and face value of Rs.1/- each
37,82,04,016 (March 31, 2024: 20,17,12,476) Compulsorily convertible preference shares (CCPS- Series B) of Rs. 378.21 201.71
96.80 each fully paid up and face value of Rs.1/- each
433.00 256.53
(i) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at end of the reporting year:
Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
No. of units Amount No. of units Amount
Preference shares:
Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year 256,536,447 256.53 - -
New issue during the year Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS- Series B) 186,374,897 186.38 206,619,848 206.62
Reclassification of financial liability into preference shares {refer note 24 (i)} - - 54,834,727 54.83
Conversion of CCPS- Series A into Equity {refer note 21(ii) (a)} (27,378) (0.03) (10,756) (0.01)
Conversion of CCPS- Series B into Equity {refer note 21(ii) (b)} (9,883,357) (9.88) (4,907,372) (4.91)
Shares outstanding at the end of the year 433,000,609 433.00 256,536,447 256.53
(i) Rights issue:
During the previous year, the Company invited its shareholders to subscribe a rights issue for raising up to Rs. 35,000 by way of issuance of compulsorily convertible preference shares of face value Re. 1 (Rupee One
only) each (“CCPS Series B”) at a price of Rs. 96.80 (including a premium of Rs. 95.80) per CCPS on a rights basis to the holders of the equity shares of face value Re. 1 (Rupee One only) each of the Company, on the
record date, that is on August 11, 2023 (“Eligible Equity Shareholder”)
Number of CCPS Series B that an Eligible Equity Shareholder is entitled, being 1 (One) CCPS Series B for every 20 {Twenty) fully paid-up Equity Shares held by the Eligible Equity Shareholder as on the Record Date.
(iii) Terms and rights attached to preference shares:
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had allotted 15,49,50,398 CCPS Series B of face value Re. 1.00 each fully paid up at an issue price of Rs. 96.8/- (Rupees Ninety Six and Eighty paisa only) each
(including premium of Rs. 95.8/- (Rupees Ninety Five and Eighty paisa only) each) per CCPS Series B on rights basis. Additionally, the Company had allotted 3,14,24,499 CCPS Series B of face value Re. 1.00 each fully
paid up at an issue price of Rs. 96.8/- (Rupees Ninety Six and Eighty paisa only) each (including premium of Rs. 95.8/- (Rupees Ninety Five and Eighty paisa only) each) per CCPS Series B on a preferential basis through
private placement.
During the previous year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has issued and allotted 20,66,19,848 CCPS Series B of face value Re. 1.00 each fully paid up at an issue price of Rs. 96.8/- (Rupees Ninety Six and Eighty
paisa only) each (including premium of Rs. 95.8/- (Rupees Ninety Five and Eighty paisa only) each) per CCPS Series B on rights basis.
The compulsorily convertible preference shares shall be entitled to receive a cumulative dividend at the rate of 0.0001% (zero point zero zero zero one percent) per annum on the face value of each Preference share
and the dividend shall accrue from year to year when not paid, and accrued dividends shall be paid in full. Each CCPS would be entitled to participate pari passu in any cash or non-cash dividends paid to the holders of
shares of any other class or series (including Equity Shares) on a pro rata, as on converted basis. The Preference shareholders of the Company are entitled to vote on every resolution placed before the Company on a
poll for the fully paid-up Preference shares held by them in proportion to the shareholder's share in the paid-up share capital of the Company. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the assets and available
proceeds shall be discharged in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company.
These shares are compulsorily convertible into Equity Shares (CCPS Series A at such number of Equity shares as at value of Rs. 4.36/- per equity share, and CCPS Series B in the ratio of 1 CCPS Series B into 20 fully paid
up Equity Shares) at the option of the holders at any time before maturity by providing a written notice to the Company. The compulsorily convertible preference shares shall be automatically converted into equity
shares on earlier of (i) Maturity Date (For CCPS-Series A - September 1, 2042; For CCPS Series B - September 1, 2043) (ii) later of (a) the date immediately prior to the filing of the draft red herring prospectus with the
Securities and Exchange Board of India or (i) immediately upon expiry of the maximum period permitted under the law after filing of the draft red herring prospectus for holding such compulsorily convertible
preference shares on the company proposing to undertake an IPO for the issue of Equity Shares to the public.
(iv) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% of a class of preference shares in the Company:

v)

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

No. of shares % of holding No. of shares % of holding
Preference shares: (CCPS- Series A)
Macritchie Investments Pte Ltd 18,750,000 34.22% 18,750,000 34.20%
Naspers Ventures Bv 18,750,000 34.22% 18,750,000 34.20%
TPG Growth V SF Markets Pte. Ltd. 10,000,000 18.25% 10,000,000 18.24%
CDPQ Private Equity Asia Pte. Ltd. 5,620,000 10.26% 5,620,000 10.25%
Preference shares: (CCPS- Series B)
MEMG Family Office LLP 82,503,676 21.81% - -
TPG Growth V SF Markets Pte. Ltd. 37,190,082 9.83% 37,190,082 18.44%
Beta Oryx Limited 25,654,316 6.78% 25,654,316 12.72%
WSSS Investment Aggregator 2 PTE LTD 23,032,836 6.09% -
Naspers Ventures BV 22,904,977 6.06% - -
360 One Special Opportunities Fund - Series 12 22,156,626 5.86% - -
Macritchie Investments Pte Ltd 18,923,217 5.00% - -
Amansa Investments Ltd 13,750,000 3.64% 13,750,000 6.82%
Lightrock Growth Fund 1 S A Sicav Raif 12,430,000 3.29% 12,430,000 6.16%
Dr Velumani A 11,387,116 3.01% 11,387,116 5.65%
Prashant Dharamdeo Singh 507,948 0.13% 30,355,225 15.05%

The Group has not bought back any shares from incorporation till date.
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23 Other equity

Particulars Notes As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Retained earnings (i) (148,542.58) (133,526.28)
Securities premium reserves (ii) 155,319.55 134,768.41
Employee stock options outstanding (iii) 16,260.14 14,353.25
Capital reserve (iv) 0.45 0.45
Amalgamation deficit balance (v) (27.28) (27.28)
23,010.28 15,568.55
Equity component of compound financial instruments (vi) 78.90 78.90
23,089.18 15,647.45
(i) Retained earnings
Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year (133,002.53) (108,022.37)
Loss for the Year (15,931.93) (25,499.51)
Items of Other Compreh Income r d directly in retained earnings 212 21.69
Transaction with Non-controlling interests (933.74) (116.15)
Recognition / changes in the value of put liability 1,300.53 (540.44)
Disposal of interest in subsidiary with loss of control 22.97 -
Transfer on account of surrender of options (refer note 52) - 1,154.24
Balance at the end of the year (148,542.58) (133,002.53)
(ii) Securities premium reserves
Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year 134,768.41 109,692.66
Premium on issue of CCPS Series B {refer note 22 (i)} 17,892.43 19,794.18
Premium on reclassification of CCPS Series A issued during previous year {refer note 24 (i)} - 5,428.64
Transfer of premium on account of exercise of stock options 2,847.09 -
Transfer of premium on account of conversion to Equity {refer note 21 (ii)} (188.38) (93.48)
Transaction cost on issue of instruments in the nature of equity - (53.59)
Balance at the end of the year 155,319.55 134,768.41
(iii) ployee stock options di
Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year 14,353.25 13,288.97
Transfer on exercise of Stock options (2,915.57) -
Employee stock option expense for the year 4,822.46 2,218.52
Transfer on account of surrender of options (refer note 52) - (1,154.24)
Balance at the end of the year 16,260.14 14,353.25
(iv) Capital reserve
Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year 0.45 0.45
Movement during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 0.45 0.45
(v) Amalgamation deficit balance
Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year (27.28) (27.28)
Movement during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year (27.28) (27.28)
Amalgamation deficit balance has arisen as a result of accounting for amalgamation on August 27, 2020 between Swifto Services Private Limited and Thea Technologies Private Limited and 91Streets Media Technologies Private
Limited with API Holdings Limited and the respective shareholders.
(vi) Equity of instruments
Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year 78.90 78.90
Movement during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 78.90 78.90
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Nature and purpose of other reserves
(i) Securities premium reserves
Securities premium reserve is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve is utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(ii) Equity of C d Financial Instr

The 91Streets Media Technologies Private Limited had issued share warrants to the supplier and availed facility to utilise the advertising services from the supplier. The transaction was accounted in accordance with the share based
transaction wherein the present value of goods and services received was accounted as deferred payment liabilities and residual value is accounted as equity component of compound financial instrument within Other equity. During
the year ended March 31, 2022, pursuant to its Board Resolution dated September 28, 2021,the Company has converted 133,904 of its fully paid Compulsory Convertible Debenture (CCD) held by Ivy Icon Solutions LLP into 401,712

Equity shares having face value of Rs 10 each, in the ratio of 3 fully paid Equity share of Rs 10 each (post giving bonus effect) for every 1 fully paid CCD.

(iii) ployee stock options

The employee stock option reserve is used to recognize the grant date fair value of options issued to employees under stock option schemes. (Refer note 52)

(iv) Capital reserve

Capital Reserves represents bargain purchase in previous acquisitions and amounts received in earlier years from the selling shareholder at the time of the IPO towards reimbursement of certain expenses and fair value of the

trademark “Whaters” (subsequently disp i off) assij i by Dr. Aroki Velumani (Ex-promoter) in favour of the group for no consideration.

(v)

Amalgamation deficit balance

Amalgamation deficit balance has arisen as a result of accounting for amalgamation between Swifto Services Private Limited and Thea Technologies Private Limited and 91Streets Media Technologies Private Limited with APl Holdings

Limited and the respective shareholders.

24 Non-current borrowings

(

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Unsecured
0.001% 2,000 (March 31, 2024: 2,000) Compulsorily convertible cumulative participating debentures (CCD's) (refer note (i) below) - 64.27
Secured
Non convertible debentures (refer note (i) and (iii) below) 17,786.06 34,009.91
Less: Discount on issue of non-convertible debentures (174.55) (321.55)
Less: current maturity of non-convertible debentures (779.92) (13,672.15)
Term loan from bank (refer note (iv) below) 34.53 32541
Less: current maturity of term loan from bank (25.20) (161.97)
Term loan from others (refer note (v) below) - 95.24
Less: current maturity of term loan from others - (95.24)
16,840.92 20,243.92

Notes:

During the year ended March 31, 2025, on 2nd April 2024, The Company ("Issuer") has redeemed 64129, 6600 and 6600 debentures of Tranche 2, 4A and Tranche 4B respectively.

of I | deb e trust deed:
The Group has entered into supplemental debenture trust deed on July 04, 2024 and parties hereby agreed that the Group shall be permitted to prepay the entire accrued and compounded PIK and the applicable Redemption
Premium and all other applicable amounts on such accrued and compounded PIK for tranche 1, 3A and 3B until July 05, 2024 without the requirement of paying the applicable Make Whole Amount on accrued PIK and its
components. The Company has made the payment on July 05, 2024. As at March 31, 2024 corresponding amount is Rs. 3,615.80.

N . . Material terms of Coupon/ As at As at
Particulars No. of NCD's|  Date of Allotment Maturity Date: Interest Rate March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Tranche 2 64,129 June 23, 2022 April 2024 Single repayment at the 7% +3 Months - 11,317.33
Tranche 4A 6,600 | September 30, 2022 April 2024| end of the term, Unless SOFR+ - 1,100.04
Tranche 48 6,600 March 08, 2023 April 2024| ~ redeemed earlier in Credit spread - 1,048.33
Tranche 1 128,138 June 23,2022 June 22, 2026 2ccordance with the terms ™76, " 3o nths 14,217.32 16,931.76
Tranche 3A 13,200 | September 30, 2022 June 22,2026  ©f Third amenced and SOFR+ 1,401.17 1,640.94
Tranche 38 13,200 March 08, 2023 June 22,2026 restated DTD Credit Spread 1,387.65 1,546.96

231,867 17,006.14 33,585.36

*Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost and therefore interest accrued on borrowings are included in the respective amounts.
Refer note 47 for defaults and breaches in relation to financial liabilities

Description of Security

(a) a first ranking exclusive pledge by the Issuer over the 100% (one hundred percent) of the fully paid up share capital of AHWSPL (on a Fully Diluted Basis).

(b) a first ranking exclusive pledge by the Issuer over the such percentage of the fully paid up share capital of Akna (on a Fully Diluted Basis) held by the Issuer (or its nominees), which as on the reporting Date is 68.67% (sixty eight
point three seven percent) of the fully paid up share capital of Akna (on a Fully Diluted Basis).

(c) a first ranking exclusive pledge by the Issuer over the 100% (one hundred percent) of the fully paid up share capital of Aycon (on a Fully Diluted Basis).

(d) a first ranking exclusive pledge by the Issuer over the 100% (one hundred percent) of the fully paid up share capital of Threpsi (on a Fully Diluted Basis).

(e) a first ranking exclusive pledge by the Issuer over 100% (one hundred percent) of the fully paid up share capital of Docon (on a Fully Diluted Basis).

(f) a first ranking exclusive pledge by Docon over the 71.06% (seventy one point one eight percent) of the fully paid equity share capital of Thyrocare (on a Fully Diluted Basis), provided that such pledge percentage may stand reduced
up to the aggregate of (i) the Existing ESOS; and (ii) 3% (three percent) of the fully paid up equity share capital of Thyrocare (on a Fully Diluted Basis), solely on account of any further ESOPs of Thyrocare being granted in accordance
with the terms of this Deed.

(g) a first ranking exclusive charge by way of hypothecation over the following assets of the Issuer (“Hypothecated Assets”):

(i) each bank account of the Issuer and all funds from time to time deposited therein, both present and future;

(i) Insurance Contracts, both present and future;

(iii) Movable Assets, both present and future;

(iv) Current Assets of the Issuer, both present and future; and

(v) all Intangible Assets, both present and future;

(h) a first ranking exclusive charge by way of hypothecation on the Designated Account, and the sub-accounts of Docon (or any account in substitution thereof) that may be opened or operated in accordance with the Transaction
Documents and all funds from time to time deposited therein, both present and future
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(i) 2,000 CCD's of face value Rs. 30,000 each are convertible into Equity Shares of the Company of a face value of Rs. 10 each upon earlier of (i) one day prior to the expiry of 10 (Ten) years from the date of allotment of the CCDs or (ii)

(iii)

(iv)

before IPO or (iii) at any time at the option of the holder. The number of equity shares to be issued upon conversion of CCDs shall be determined at the time of conversion based upon the fair value of the Equity Shares of the
Company as per discounted free cash flow method, subject to a minimum of 1 Equity Share per CCD. The aforementioned CCD's are fair valued at each reporting date, resulting into Gain on fair valuation of financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit and loss is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 37.24)

650 (March 31, 2024: 650) Debentures of face value of Rs 1,000,000 were issued to Grand Anicut amounting to Rs. 219.92 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 424.55) secured by pari passu charge on current and fixed assets of the Company along
with corporate guarantee from API Holdings Limited. The rate of interest is 15% p.a. with principal repayment commencing from Jan 2023 onwards to be fully repaid over 30 installments.

7,000 Debentures of face value of X 1,000,000 were issued to Stride Ventures amounting to Rs. 560 (March 31, 2024: Nil) secured by pari passu charge on current and Property, Plant and Equipements of the Company along with
corporate guarantee from API Holdings Ltd. (Holding company). The rate of interest is 15% p.a. with principal repayment commencing from Jan 2025 onwards to be fully repaid over 30 installments.C104

(a) The working capital term loan is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 38.61) is sanctioned under Government of India “Emergency Credit line Guaranteed Scheme (ECLGS) covered by 100% guarantee from NCGTC (National Credit Guarantee
Trustee Company Ltd (Ministry of Finance, Government of India). Total loan is sanctioned for Rs. 139 which is repayable in 36 EMI post 12 Months Moratorium period. The loan carries floating interest at the rate of 8.25% to 10.05%
(March 31, 2024: 8.25% to 10.05%) per annum. The loan is secured by extension of second ranking charge over existing primary and collateral securities of cash credit facility including mortgages created in favour of the Bank.

(b) Term loan against hypothecation of vehicles and current assets:
Term loan represents vehicle loan from HDFC Bank is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 2.34) related to various vehicles purchased. The rate of interest ranges from 9.5% to 10% p.a.. The loan is secured by hypothecation of vehicles repayable
monthly over a period of 3 to 5 years.

Term loan represents loan from HSBC Bank is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 39.98). The loan is secured by way of second pari passu charge on all current assets namely, stock of traded goods and books debts both present and future of
Vardhman Health Specialties Private Limited, and 100% Credit Guarantee by NCGTC. The rate of interest ranges from 8.5% to 9.5% p.a. and repayable over a tenure of 5 years including a moratorium of 1 year with repayments
starting from Apr 2022.

Term loan represents loan from Axis Bank of Rs. 34.45 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 46.88). The loan is secured by way of second pari passu charge on all current assets namely, stock of traded goods and books debts both present and future
of Vardhman Health Specialties Private Limited, and 100% Credit Guarantee by NCGTC. The rate of interest ranges from 8.5% to 9.5% p.a. and repayable over a tenure of 6 years including a moratorium of 2 year with repayments
starting from Jan 2024.

(c) Term loan represent loan from HDFC Bank for equipment financing is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 197.60). The loan is secured by a fixed charge over the equipment with annual interest rate of 8.25% and repayable in 48 equal
monthly installments.

Term loan from others represents loan from Vivriti Capital is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 95.24) secured by lien on fixed deposits, hypothecation of current and movable fixed assets. The rate of interest ranges from 13.5% to 15% p.a.
(March 31, 2024: 13.5% to 15% p.a.) and repayable over 24 months including 3 month moratorium with repayments starting from May 2023.

Net Debt Reconciliation

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Cash and Cash equivalents* 1,189.63 3,274.45
Current borrowings (2,690.64) (6,810.28)
Non - Current borrowings** (17,647.32) (34,198.77)
Put Liability (6,752.95) (6,449.66)
Other financial liabilities (263.38) (269.82)
Lease Liability (1,180.95) (1,210.64)
(27,345.61) (45,664.72)

* Cash and Cash equivalents includes temporary book overdraft which is integral part of cash management function of the Company.
** Non - Current borrowings includes current maturities included under other current borrowings

Particulars Other Assets Liabill from fi

Cash ar!d c,aSh Lease Liabilities Non-Curfent Current Borrowings Put Liability Other fina.w.n:.ial Total

borrowings liabilities

Balance as at April 1, 2023 1,926.98 (1,362.54) (32,314.41) (8,911.33) (6,316.47) (294.82) (47,272.59)
Cash flows (net) 1,347.47 338.54 - 2,102.32 1,049.73 25.00 4,863.06
Proceeds from long term borrowings - - (286.29) - - - (286.29)
Repayment of borrowings - - 494.31 - - - 494.31
Interest expense - (158.59) (8,895.97) (972.86) (642.48) - (10,669.90)
Interest paid - 158.59 1,282.88 971.59 - - 2,413.06
Other non-cash movements
Acquisition - Leases - (519.52) - - - - (519.52)
Disposal - Leases - 332.88 - - - - 332.88
Change in put liability recognised - - - - (540.44) - (540.44)
Reclass of non current borrowings - - 5,483.47 - - - 5,483.47
Fair value adjustments - - 37.24 - - - 37.24
Balance as at March 31, 2024 3,274.45 (1,210.64) (34,198.77) (6,810.28) (6,449.66) (269.82) (45,664.72)
Balance as at April 1, 2024 3,274.45 (1,210.64) (34,198.77) (6,810.28) (6,449.66) (269.82) (45,664.72)
Cash flows (net) (2,084.82) 301.21 - 4,120.76 (0.69) 6.44 2,342.90
Proceeds from long term borrowings - - (700.00) - - - (700.00)
Repayment of borrowings - 18,451.53 - - 18,451.53
Interest expense - (154.66) (3,362.06) (335.47) (553.40) - (4,405.59)
Interest paid - 154.66 2,733.91 33435 - - 3,222.92
Other non-cash movements
Acquisition - Leases - (570.14) - - (570.14)
Disposal - Leases - 298.62 - - 298.62
Change in put liability recognised - - - - 250.80 - 250.80
Amortisation of discount on issue of non convertible debentures - (147.00) (147.00)
Foreign exchange adjustment - (487.96) (487.96)
Transaction with NCI - 64.26 64.26
Fair value adjustments - - (1.23) - - - (1.23)
Balance as at March 31, 2025 1,189.63 (1,180.95) (17,647.32) (2,690.64) (6,752.95) (263.38) (27,345.61)
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(i

(ii)

Provisions (Non-current)

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Provision for gratuity (refer note 49) 131.63 110.78
Provision for compensated absences (refer note no 49) - 0.88
131.63 111.66

Contract liabilities (Non-current)

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Contract liabilities (refer note 34) 0.01 -

0.01 -

Current borrowings

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Secured

From bank and other financial institutions (refer note (i) below) 2,690.64 6,737.89

Current maturity of long-term debt (refer note 24) 805.12 13,929.37

Unsecured

Loan from others (refer note (i) below) - 72.39
3,495.76 20,739.65

Notes:

(a) Cash credit facility including working capital demand loan from bank of Rs. 675.80 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 2,306.62) carries floating interest at 10.15% to 12.05% (March 31, 2024: 10.87% to 12.86%) per annum, computed on a
monthly basis on the actual amount utilised and is repayable on demand. The facility is secured against pledge of 1,167 shares of Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited and exclusive charge on the current assets and
moveable fixed asset of the borrower entity, and Corporate Guarantee from APl Holdings Limited and AHWSPL India Private Limited, and lien on fixed deposit of Rs 150 extended on the facility.

(b) Cash credit facility from bank is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 541.42) carries floating interest at 10.40% to 12.40% (March 31, 2024: 10.67% to 11.12%) per annum, computed on a monthly basis on the actual amount utilised and is
repayable on demand. The facility is secured by First exclusive charge plant and machinery and other movable assets of the Borrower entity, both present and future, First exclusive charge on book debts (both present and future)
which are now due and owing or may become due and owing to the borrower entity during the term of the facility, First exclusive charge on stock, both present and future belonging to the Borrower entity or at the borrower entity's
disposal and any stock stored, to be stored, brought in to upon or in course of transit to the borrower entity's premises and Corporate Guarantee from API Holdings Limited. The said facility has been closed in current year.

(c) Cash credit facility from bank of Rs. 321.61 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 374.46) carries floating interest at 12.25% to 12.50% (March 31, 2024: 12.05% to 12.40%) per annum, computed on a monthly basis on the actual amount utilised
and is repayable on demand. The facility is secured by exclusive charge on current assets of Chennai division of Ascent (formerly Muthu Pharma Pvt Ltd, Shell Pharmaceuticals Pvt Ltd, Pearl Medicals Pvt Ltd and Rau & Co. Pharma Pvt
Ltd), both present and future, Exclusive charge on movable fixed assets of Chennai division of Ascent (as detailed above), both present and future, Exclusive charge by way of Hypothecation on IPR / brand / intangibles of the
technology stack/product suite of Chennai division of Ascent, both present and future, and Corporate Guarantee from Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited

(d) Cash credit facility from banks of Rs. 1,348.30 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 1,180.84) carries floating interest at 9.50% to 11.00% (March 31, 2024: 9.50% to 11.00%) per annum, computed on a monthly basis on the actual amount utilised
and is repayable on demand. The facility is secured by pari passu charge on all currents assets and movable fixed assets, lien on fixed deposits extended on the facilities.

(e) Working capital demand loan from banks is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 2,044.39) carries floating interest at 9.50% to 11.00% (March 31, 2024: 9.50% to 11.00%) per annum is secured by pari passu charge on all currents assets and
movable fixed assets, lien on fixed deposits extended on the facilities.

(f) Loan from Vivriti Capital is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 40.00) carries floating interest at 13.5% to 15% (March 31, 2024: 13.5% to 15%) per annum and repayable over 18 months including 3 month moratorium with repayments
starting from July 2023. The facility is secured by lien on fixed deposits extended on the facility and hypothecation of current and movable fixed assets

(g) Loan from banks - Rs. 240.00 (March 31, 2024: 245.00) represents working capital demand loan and Rs.104.93 (March 31, 2024: 2.66) represents cash credit facility are secured by charge on entire fixed assets, inventories, book
debts and current assets of Threpsi Solutions Private Limited, both present and future, and Corporate Guarantee of AP| Holdings Limited.

The loan from other parties is Nil (31 March 2024: Rs. 72.39) carry interest at 11.00% to 12.00% (March 31, 2024: 11.00% to 12.00%) per annum and is repayable on demand.

Details of assets pledged as security for non-current and current borrowings:

Particulars As at| As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Current Assets

Trade receivables 5,474.80 6,316.44
Cash and cash equivalents 251.55 761.53
Other financial assets 864.90 289.87
Inventories 3,739.73 4,503.62
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 581.54 941.34
Other current assets 1,229.13 1,232.99
Total current assets hypothecated as security 12,141.65 14,045.79

Non current assets

Moveable fixed assets (net block) 255.24 640.50
Other financial assets 69.14 81.68
Other non-current assets - -
Total non current assets hypothecated as security 324.38 722.18

Total assets pledged as security 12,466.03 14,767.97




API Holdings Limited
Notes to the li d fi ial

(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

28 Trade payables

as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

Particulars As at As at

March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises 252.97 330.57
Total outstanding dues of other than micro and small enterprises 3,984.35 3,792.30
Total outstanding dues of other than micro and small enterprises- Related parties (refer note 50) 29.78 6.20

4,267.10 4,129.07
Note:
Trade payable ageing schedule as on March 31, 2025
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars Accrued expenses Not due Less Than 1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years More than 3 Total
years
(i) MSME 8.75 35.15 161.60 21.20 12.90 5.77 245.37
(ii) Others 435.53 930.14 2,138.55 88.73 95.83 51.99 3,740.77
(iii) Disputed dues-MSME - - - - - 7.60 7.60
(iv) Disputed dues-Others 6.50 - 257.42 9.04 0.40 - 273.36
Total 450.78 965.30 2,557.57 118.96 109.13 65.36 4,267.10
Trade payable ageing schedule as on March 31, 2024
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars Accrued expenses Not due Less Than 1 Year 1.2 Years 2.3 Years More than 3 Total
years
(i) MSME 13.12 18.08 260.00 25.99 533 0.45 322.97
(ii) Others 373.00 699.56 2,539.48 112.52 50.59 1.39 3,776.54
(iii) Disputed dues-MSME - - - - 7.60 - 7.60
(iv) Disputed dues-Others 16.36 - 5.60 - - - 21.96
Total 402.48 717.64 2,805.08 138.51 63.52 1.84 4,129.07
29 Other financial liabilities (Current)

Particulars As at As at

March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Creditors for capital goods 24.25 8.16
Interest accrued but not due 1.28 25.48
Temporary book overdraft 0.28 5.44
Employee benefits payable 248.07 400.95
Financial guarantee contract liability 0.32 4.36
Security deposit 135.40 155.12
Business acquisition payable 14.07 13.51
Contingent purchase consideration (refer note (v) below) 249.31 256.31
Put liability (refer note (i) and (iv) below) 6,752.95 6,449.66
Unclaimed Dividend (refer note (ii) below) 172 2.67
Other payables (refer note (iii) below) 149.87 430.62

7,577.52 7,752.28

Note:

(i) The Group has an obligation to purchase non controlling interest in subsidiaries as per the respective shareholder agreements at an agreed value ("Put Option"). Accordingly in accordance with policy followed by the Group, all put
options have been recorded at fair value. Based on the evaluation of terms of contracts, wherever the risk and rewards of ownership remain with the non controlling shareholder, Non controlling interest has been recognised.
Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited ("Ascent") holds 51% equity stake in Mahaveer Medisales Private Limited ("Mahaveer"). In addition to this investment, Ascent held a call option to acquire the remaining

minority interest from the management shareholders of Mahaveer. This call option is fair valued at each reporting date, with any resulting gain or loss recognized through Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).

On February 9, 2023, an Implementation Agreement was executed among APl Holdings Limited (“API”), Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited ("Ascent"), the Management Shareholders, and other shareholders of
Mahaveer Medisales Private Limited ("Mahaveer"). Pursuant to this agreement, API agreed to acquire up to 22.03% of Mahaveer's shareholding from its Management Shareholders and other shareholders at a purchase consideration
of Rs. 837.5, and the remaining 26.97% through the issuance of 37.1 million equity shares of APl as consideration.

During the year ended March 31, 2024, the implementation agreement dated February 9, 2023, was amended and restated (“A&R IA”). API, the management shareholders and other shareholders also entered into a share purchase
agreement on February 20, 2024 (further amended on April 15, 2024) (“SPA”). Pursuant to the A&R IA and the SPA, APl agreed to acquire 34% of Mahaveer's shares from its management and other shareholders for a cash

consideration of Rs. 1,282.23 and share transfer of 34% of Mahaveer’s shares got completed on May 07, 2024. Additionally, API has agreed to acquire the r

15% sharet

Iding of Mah:

as per the terms of A&R IA.

(ii) Investor Education and Protection Fund ('IEPF') - As at March 31, 2025 there is no amount due and outstanding to be transferred to the IEPF by the Group. Unclaimed dividend, if any, shall be transferred to IEPF as and when the

become due. (March 31, 2024: Rs. Nil)

(iii) Other payables include amount payable towards adjusted consideration is Nil (March 31, 2024: 295.00) - Refer note 43, security deposit received from customers of Rs. 30.00 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 30.00) which are refundable
upon termination/expiry of agreements, user payable of Rs. 76.04 (31 March 2024: Rs. 75.21) upon fulfilment of customer orders on retalio application . It also includes cash collected by delivery persons on behalf of Retailers for its
subsequent payments to the Retailers Rs. 7.84 (March 31, 2024:Rs. 9.35). Corresponding asset is included in other Bank balance (refer note 17) and other receivables (refer note 19).

(iv) In addition to the investment in Akna Medical Private Limited, the Company entered into separate agreements with non-controlling shareholders, whereby the Company holds a call option to purchase shares held by those
shareholders (representing 31.33% equity interest (March 31, 2024: 31.33%) if specified EBITDA thresholds are not met by end of the specified period in the respective agreements. These shareholders, in turn, hold a put option to
put the shares to the Company at any time by end of the specified period defined in these agreements. During the year ended March 31, 2023, the parties amended the terms whereby the Company has an obligation to purchase the
31.33% equity interest basis the fixed price range and other terms specified in the amendment agreement and accordingly an amount of Rs. 6,391.51 (March 31, 2024: 5,838.11) is included under "Put Liability".

(v) In addition to the investment in AKP Healthcare Private Limited, the Company entered into separate agreements with non-controlling shareholders, whereby the Company holds a call option to purchase shares held by those
shareholders (representing 49% equity interest (March 31, 2024: 49%). These shareholders, in turn, hold a put option to put the shares to the Company at any time by end of the specified period defined in the agreement and
accordingly an amount of Rs. 360.75 (March 31, 2024: 379.05) is included under "Put Liability".

(vi) Vardhman Health Specialities Private Limited (subsidiary) has complied and achieved the performance milestones in December 31, 2023 as set forth in the share purchase agreement dated March 27, 2021 but the Company held

back amount which shall be paid as per agreed terms.
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Other current liabilities

Particulars Asat As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
Statutory liabilities (refer note (i) below) 398.78 438.76
Refund liabilities (refer note (ii) below) 1,219.56 1,162.14
Other payables 25.38 17.92
1,643.72 1,618.82
Note:

(i) Statutory liabilities include Tax Deducted at Source, Profession Tax, Provident Fund, ESIC, Service Tax, Sales Tax / Goods and Services Tax.
(i) The Group recognizes a refund liability for amounts received from customers who have a right to return products within a specified period, Rs. 1,219.56 (Rs. 1,162.14 as of March 31, 2024), . In addition, the Group recognizes a
right to recover the returned goods, measured at the former carrying amount of Rs. 1,104.14 (Rs. 1,060.63 as of March 31, 2024) Refer note 20. The costs associated with recovering the products are not expected to be material.

Contract liabilities (current)

Particulars Asat As at
March 31,2025  March 31, 2024
Contract liabilities (refer note 34) 228.94 130.79
228.94 130.79

Provisions (Current)

Particulars Asat Asat
March 31,2025  March 31, 2024

Provision for employee benefits

Gratuity (refer note no 49) 57.61 47.43
Compensated absences (refer note no 49) 99.99 121.78
Other provisions (refer note (i) below) 133.70 133.70

291.30 302.91
Note:

(i) This includes provision for income-tax and employees provident fund matter on acquisition of Thyrocare amounting to Rs. 128.50 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 128.50) and Rs. 5.20 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 5.20) respectively. It also includes
provision for CSR expenses is Nil (March 31, 2024: Nil)

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025  March 31, 2024
Opening 133.70 147.30
Addition for the year - -
Utilisation - (13.60)
Closing 133.70 133.70

Current tax lia

Particulars As at As at
March 31,2025 March 31, 2024

Provision for income tax 40.61 41.06

40.61 41.06

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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34 Revenue from operations

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sale of goods (refer note (a) below) 50,975.98 50,077.18

Sale of services (refer note (b) below) 7,568.65 6,523.00

Other operating revenue

Other operating revenue (refer note (c) below) 177.01 42.68

58,721.64 56,642.86

(a) Sale of goods primarily relates to trading and distribution of pharmaceutical and cosmetic goods.

(b) Sale of services primarily relates to diagnostic services, licensing of internet portals or technology platforms or mobile applications related to sales and distribution of

pharmaceutical and cosmetic goods, teleconsulting, sale of software, subscription of software services, etc.

(c) Other operating revenue pertains to rendering services of delivery persons, lease of software and hardware, warehousing and commission earned on facilitating pathological

diagnostic tests between customers and pathological laboratories.

The entire revenue of the Group is restricted to one geographical region i.e. India, where risks do not vary. The majority of contracts with customer are short term in nature.

There are no customers which contributes more than 10% of the total revenue of the group

(i) Reconciliation of revenue recognised with contract price:

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Contract price 61,579.12 58,922.88
Adjustments for:
Refund liabilities (1,219.56) (1,068.01)
Discounts (1,637.92) (1,212.01)
Revenue from operations 58,721.64 56,642.86
(i) Recognition of revenue over the period of time and at a point in time.
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Qver a period of time 345.15 337.13
At a point in time 58,376.49 56,305.73
Total 58,721.64 56,642.86
(i) Movement in contract balances
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Contract Liabilities
Opening Balance 130.79 141.87
Less: Advance from customer reclassified to other current financial liability - (30.00)
Less: Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in the contract (130.78) (111.70)
liability balance at the beginning of the period.
Add: Advance from customers 228.94 130.62
Closing Balance 228.95 130.79
(iv) The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations is as follows:
Expected to be recognised revenue during For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Year ended March 2025 - 130.79
Year ended March 2026 228.95 -
Total 228.95 130.79
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Other income
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest income from financial assets measured at amortised cost
On fixed deposits 739.10 523.86
On loan to equity accounted investees 46.97 71.38
On loan to others 2.23 66.53
On others 27.36 5.65
Interest on income tax refund 46.77 22.38
Unwinding of interest on security deposits 16.07 15.54
Gain on fair valuation of financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss 35.68 96.25
Gain on sale of financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss 77.16 0.14
Rental income - 3.06
Gain on termination of lease 29.69 38.32
Gain on modification of lease - 7.53
Liabilities no longer required written back 25.23 34.82
Amortization of financial guarantee liability 4.36 21.43
Miscellaneous income 27.89 9.66
Dividend income 0.14 -
Management fees - 30.00
1,078.65 946.55
Cost of materials consumed
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening stock 462.26 266.50
Add: Purchases 1,879.44 1,840.85
Less: Closing stock (455.68) (462.26)
1,886.02 1,645.09
Purchases of stock-in-trade
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Purchases of stock-in-trade 47,295.83 45,728.06
47,295.83 45,728.06
Changes in inventory
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening stock
Traded goods 5,086.98 6,611.33
Right to recover returned goods 1,060.63 966.42
6,147.61 7,577.75
Closing stock
Traded goods (5,083.23) (5,086.98)
Right to recover returned goods (1,104.14) (1,060.63)
(6,187.37) (6,147.61)
(39.76) 1,430.14
Employee benefits expense
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Salaries, wages and allowances 3,848.05 4,334.53
Contribution to provident and other funds (refer note 49) 183.18 190.53
Gratuity expense (refer note 49) 60.74 62.15
Compensated absences 30.98 36.12
Employee share based payment expense (refer note 52) 4,822.46 2,218.52
Staff welfare expenses 138.58 151.78
9,083.99 6,993.63
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40 Finance costs

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest and finance charges on financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,566.78 5,046.73
Interest on delayed payment of direct tax and statutory dues 12.28 34.20
Interest on lease liability 154.66 158.59
Interest expenses on deferred consideration 553.40 642.48
Other finance charges 773.95 1,397.16
5,061.07 7,279.16
41 Depreciation and amortisation
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (refer note 3) 690.98 838.45
Depreciation of right of use asset (refer note 4) 371.14 387.66
Amortization of intangible assets (refer note 6) 627.66 933.41
1,689.78 2,159.52
42 Other expenses
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Bank and other Payment Gateway Charges 27.74 30.96
Sales promotion and marketing expense 617.90 499.04
Contractual payment for delivery associates 907.34 786.66
Consumption of packing materials and consumables* 392.79 157.58
Manpower charges 390.05 200.24
Commission & Brokerage 374.16 412.31
Information Technology expenses 431.99 514.50
Legal and Professional Fees 725.55 599.57
Directors commission and sitting fees 11.40 11.33
Insurance expenses 35.51 40.41
Lease Expenses** 72.88 146.12
Rates and taxes 90.25 72.41
Repairs and Maintenance - Buildings 166.77 58.40
Repairs and Maintenance - Machinery 70.75 183.23
Repairs and Maintenance 67.95 34.87
Security services 40.76 38.29
Telephone and Communication Charges 56.96 54.13
Travelling Expenses 184.92 156.29
Printing and Stationery 55.44 59.32
Postage and courier 120.60 116.16
Water, Electricity and Fuel Expenses 213.97 222.21
Office and administration expenses 52.01 46.49
Service charges 453.45 337.28
Qutlab processing charges 62.09 40.56
Corporate social responsibility 29.57 36.64
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 22.90 109.66
Impairment allowance for doubtful advances and balances with government authorities 406.08 464.66
Sundry balances written off 3.43 43.37
Impairment/(Reversal) of fair value of assets held for sale (40.03) 60.00
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and Intangibles 8.78 36.30
Miscellaneous expenses 53.44 50.78
6,107.40 5,619.76
*It includes Closing stores and spares is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 6.36)
** Lease payments not recognised as a lease liability and corresponding ROU asset
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Short Term Lease 72.88 146.12
72.88 146.12
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(i

(i)

Exceptional items
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Impairment of goodwill (refer note 5A) & refer note (i) below (1,750.00) (5,825.00)
Impairment of investments in associates (refer note 7) (198.13) (334.25)
Impairment of Loans and Interest Receivable in associates (refer note 18 & 19) (572.07) -
Impairment of Intangible assets (refer note 6) - (390.69)
Loss on sale of Investment in subsidiary and associate (444.91) -
Early redemption charges for NCD's (refer note 47) - (3,424.94)
Adjusted consideration charges (refer note (ii) below) - (295.00)
(2,965.11) (10,269.88)

Considering the outlook of the current economic environment and other macro economic factors, management has drawn an operating plan in light of the latest available
information. Basis the operating plan, a downward revision to projections was necessitated and accordingly as a result of impairment testing, impairment was identified as the
recoverable value of respective assets does not exceeded their respective carrying amounts as at March 31, 2025, considering the size and nature of amounts involved the same
are classified as exceptional items and are disclosed separately.

In previous year AP| (“Purchaser” or the “Company”), Medlife International Private Limited, Prasid Uno Family Trust ("PUFT"), and other Sellers entered into a securities purchase
agreement dated December 16, 2020, read with an amendment agreement dated December 30, 2020 (“SPA”) pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to sell, and APl agreed to
purchase all the Sale Securities subject to the terms and conditions set out therein. As per the SPA, the purchase consideration shall be adjusted for the difference between actual
Net Current Assets (NCA) and assumed NCA of INR 4,750 at the time of acquisition.

Pursuant to mutual discussions, the Parties hereto entered into MoU on December 04, 2023, to inter alia record the terms on which PUFT and API will, in good faith, determine and

settle the adjusted consideration amounts, as the case may be, in accordance with the terms of the SPA. As per the terms of the SPA and MoU, the amount of INR 295 was
determined as payable to PUFT and recorded as other current financial liability, refer note 29. The Company has made payment of the same in May 2024.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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a4

Segment Reporting

Basis for segmentation

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and
expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components, and for which discrete financial information is available. All operating segments’ operating
results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their
performance.

The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. These business units offer different products and services, and
are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies. For each of the business units, the Group’s CEO reviews internal management
reports at least on a quarterly basis.

Segment Revenue, Profit or Loss, Assets and Liabilities include the respective amounts identifiable to each of the segments and amount allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated expenditure consist of common expenditure incurred for all the segments and expenses incurred at corporate level. The assets and liabilities that cannot be
allocated between the segments are shown as unallocated assets and unallocated liabilities respectively.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments :

Reportable segments Operations

Diagnostic, Testing and Imaging Services Diagnostic and testing services, selling of consumables used for collection and promotion of pathology,
segment, imaging services, selling of radio-pharmaceutical, selling of consumables for reporting, Selling of
glucometer and glucostrips under the brand name Sugarscan.

Distribution of Medicine products and other services Trading and Distribution of pharmaceutical and cosmetic goods, licensing of internet portals or mobile
applications related to sales.

Information about reportable segments

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment EBITDA, as included in the internal
management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length
basis.

The Group operates from its centralised laboratory, regional processing laboratories, medical cyclotron facility, PET-CT centres, branches and corporate office in India and
therefore does not have much of its operations in economic environments with different risks and returns, hence considering its operation from single geographical
segment, the Company has not recognised geographical segment as its secondary segment for reporting purpose.

Reportable segments
As at March 31, 2025 Diagnostic, Testing and  Distribution of Total
Imaging Services Medicine products
and other services
Segment revenue 7,321.95 51,412.05 58,734.00
Inter-Segment Revenue - (12.36) (12.36)
Net Segment revenue 7,321.95 51,399.69 58,721.64
Segment profit / (loss) before interest, depreciation, taxation, 1,760.46 (8,373.55) (6,613.09)
non operating income and exceptional items
Unallocable income net off other unallocable expenditure 1,078.65
Loss from operation before interest, depreciation, taxation (5,534.44)
and exceptional items (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,689.78
Finance Cost 5,061.07
Loss before exceptional items and taxation (12,285.29)
Exceptional Items (2,965.11)
Loss before taxation (15,250.40)
Income Taxes
- Current taxes 657.25
- Deferred taxes (102.21)
Share of (loss)/ profit of associate and joint venture 81.55
Loss after taxation (15,723.89)
Segment assets 30,791.62 38,083.55 68,875.17
Deferred tax assets 144.13
Non-Current tax assets 568.92
Corporate assets 177.62
Total assets 69,765.84
Segment liabilities 2,758.95 32,898.90 35,657.85
Deferred tax liabilities 1,344.57
Current tax liabilities 40.61
Unallocable liabilities -
Total liabilities 37,043.03
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Reportable segments
As at March 31, 2024 Diagnostic, Testing and  Distribution of Total
Imaging Services Medicine products
and other services
Segment revenue 6,170.16 50,483.96 56,654.12
Inter-Segment Revenue (11.26) (11.26)
Net Segment revenue 6,170.16 50,472.70 56,642.86
Segment profit / (loss) before interest, depreciation, taxation, 1,346.67 (7,813.13) (6,466.46)
non operating income and exceptional items
Unallocable income net off other unallocable expenditure 946.55
Loss from operation before interest, depreciation, taxation (5,519.91)
and exceptional items (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,159.52
Finance Cost 7,279.16
Loss before exceptional items and taxation (14,958.59)
Exceptional Items (10,269.88)
Loss before taxation (25,228.47)
Income Taxes
- Current taxes 385.44
- Deferred taxes (270.03)
Share of (loss)/ profit of associate and joint venture 8.75
Loss after taxation (25,335.13)
Segment assets 30,680.12 51,856.44 82,536.56
Deferred tax assets 426.98
Non-Current tax assets 758.44
Corporate assets - - 174.62
Total assets 83,896.60
Segment liabilities 3,325.32 52,914.42 56,239.74
Deferred tax liabilities 1,732.70
Current tax liabilities 41.06
Unallocable liabilities -
Total liabilities 58,013.50

C. Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, revenue from transactions with a single external customer did not amount to 10 percent or more of the
Group's revenues from the external customers.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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45 Tax expenses

Income tax expense in the statement of profit and loss consists of

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Current income tax:
In respect of current year 651.07 379.21
In respect of prior year 6.18 6.23
Deferred tax:
In respect of the current year (102.21) (270.03)
Income tax exp re ised in the of profit or loss 555.04 115.41
Ther iliati the provision of income tax of the Company and amounts computed by applying the Indian statutory income tax rate to
profit before taxes is as follows:
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Loss before tax (15,168.85) (25,219.72)
Statutory tax rate 25.17% 25.17%
Tax expense / (credit) at applicable rate (3,817.70) (6,347.30)
Tax impact on account of :
Tax effects of amounts which are non-deductible in calculating taxable income 140.94 (5.38)
Non-deductible expenditure on account of Impairment 634.28 1,648.49
Non-deductible expenditure on account of ESOP 186.35 240.07
Items for which deferred tax was not recognised 86.33 641.25
Income not considered in determining taxable profit 170.59 36.37
Deferred tax asset on carry forward loss not recognised 3,158.96 3,720.26
Tax adjustment for earlier years - Deferred tax reversal (131.71) 86.46
Tax adjustment for earlier years - Current tax - 95.18
Other items 126.99 -
Tax expenses pertaining to current year 555.03 115.41
Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) as at March 31, 2025 in relation to:
Particulars Recognised in Recognised in

As at statement of Other As at
April 1, 2024 . Comprehensive March 31, 2025
profit and loss
Income
Deferred tax assets
Provision for employee benefits 16.46 17.99 2.93 37.38
Provision for doubtful debts and advances 59.38 15.30 - 74.68
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 99.22 48.25 - 147.47
Lease Liabilities 74.34 82.96 - 157.30
Unabsorbed depreciation and business losses 10.38 (10.38) - -
Fair valuation of security deposits 13.01 (0.51) - 12.50
Others 125.50 (176.51) 0.15 (50.87)
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,295.50) (30.67) - (1,326.17)
Fair value of investment in associate (17.54) - - (17.54)
Investment in subsidiary - (49.63) - (49.63)
Fair value of current investments - - - -
Right-of-use Asset (219.32) 39.37 - (179.95)
Tax on undistributed reserves of subsidiary (170.61) 170.61 - -
Others (1.04) (4.57) - (5.61)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (net) (1,305.72) 102.21 3.08 (1,200.44)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) as at March 31, 2024 in relation to:
Particulars Recognised in Recognised in
As at statement of Other As at
April 1, 2023 . Comprehensive March 31, 2024
profit and loss Income

Deferred tax assets
Provision for employee benefits 60.17 (42.49) (1.22) 16.46
Provision for doubtful debts and advances 43.85 15.53 - 59.38
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 63.56 35.66 - 99.22
Lease Liabilities 208.64 (134.30) - 74.34
Unabsorbed depreciation and business losses - 10.38 - 10.38
Fair valuation of security deposits 23.85 (10.84) - 13.01
Others 351.28 (225.78) - 125.50
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,814.04) 518.54 - (1,295.50)
Fair value of investment in associate (4.60) (12.94) - (17.54)
Investment in subsidiary (28.97) 28.97 - -
Fair value of current investments (35.20) 35.20 - -
Right-of-use Asset (290.36) 71.04 - (219.32)
Tax on undistributed reserves of subsidiary (152.71) (17.90) - (170.61)

Others - (1.04) - (1.04)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (net) (1,574.53) 270.03 (1.22) (1,305.72)
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f tax assets/(li ) not ised as at year end:
Particulars Asat As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Deferred tax assets arising on:
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 220.63 237.66
Unabsorbed depreciation and business losses 17,095.84 13,936.89
Lease liabilities 77.60 142.81
Provision for doubtful debt and advances 1,099.72 800.51
Provision for employee benefits 41.37 42.01
Fair value gain/loss on financial instruments - 0.49
Fair valuation of security deposits 10.74 2.49
Provision for Inventories 20.39 16.74
Unamortised amounts under Sec 350/35DD - 2.26
Borrowings 433.00 465.00
Others 406.37 513.51
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) (net) * 19,405.66 16,160.37

* Deferred tax assets of Rs. 19,405.66 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 16,160.37) as at March 31, 2025 was not recognised by the Group in absence of reasonable
certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised

Tax losses carried forward

Description Asat Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Business Loss for assessment years:
2020-21 30.70 30.72
2021-22 3,672.44 3,889.72
2022-23 20,409.77 20,365.01
2023-24 14,543.36 14,343.30
2024-25 14,480.02 15,282.55
2025-26 12,320.84 -
Unabsorbed Depreciation 1,563.36 1,339.40
Capital Loss for assessment years:
2020-21 158.33
2021-22 29.16 138.43
2022-23 - 26.17
2023-24 1,565.74 36.20
Brought forward business losses pertaining to 91Streets Media Technologies including its subsidiaries and AP| Holdings Limited including its subsidiaries

has lapsed, due to change in shareholding of API Holdings Limited consequent to scheme of amalgamation becoming effective on August 27, 2020.

The Group had cumulative earnings in respect of certain Group entities of approximately Rs. 1,056.58 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 981.58) for which the Group
has not provided deferred tax liability as the Group believes that the reversal of such temporary difference is not probable in the foreseeable future.

46 Loss per equity share

(Amount in millions, except no. of shares)

Particulars Asat As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Loss attributable to owners (15,931.93) (25,499.51)
Weighted average number of shares used in basic/diluted earnings per share 15,219,964,825 8,443,424,487
Nominal value of equity shares 1.00 1.00
Basic and Diluted Earnings / (Loss) per share (in Rupees) (1.05) (3.02)

The following instruments issued by the Group have not been considered in calculation of diluted earnings per share, the same being anti-dilutive in

nature
a) ESOPs issued to employees pursuant to various ESOP schemes of the group (refer note 52)

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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47 Financial instruments
A The classification of each category of financial instruments and their carrying amounts are as below:

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Financial assets
At amortised cost

Loans A 0.43 695.58
Other financial assets » 1,177.35 1,112.57
Trade receivable A 6,695.08 7,062.10
Cash and cash equivalents ~ 1,189.91 3,279.89
Other bank balances » 6,207.66 12,825.02
At fair value through profit and loss

Non-current investments 177.62 174.62
Current investments 1,373.64 1,367.55
Total assets 16,821.69 26,517.33

Financial liabilities
At fair value through profit and loss

Borrowings - 64.27
Contingent purchase consideration 249.31 256.31
At amortised cost

Borrowings A* 20,336.68 40,919.30
Trade payables » 4,267.10 4,129.07
Lease liabilities 1,180.95 1,210.64
Other financial liabilities # 7,328.21 7,495.97
Total liabilities 33,362.25 54,075.56

There are no financial instruments that have been classified as Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI).

A Fair values for these financial instruments have not been disclosed because their carrying amount are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
* Borrowings includes current maturities of long term debt.

Fair value hierarchy

B (i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value - recurring fair value measurements
As at March 31, 2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial Assets

Non current investments
Other investments ** - - 177.62 177.62

Current investments
Investment in mutual funds 1,373.64 - - 1,373.64
Financial liabilities
Non-current borrowings - - - -
Contingent purchase consideration - - 249.31 249.31
** Other investments includes an investment made in Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Rs. 8.71. Since the amount is not material, the fair value disclosure have not been made.

As at March 31, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial Assets

Non current investments
Other investments ** - - 174.62 174.62

Current investments

Investment in mutual funds 1,367.55 - - 1,367.55
Financial liabilities

Non-current borrowings - - 64.27 64.27
Contingent purchase consideration - - 256.31 256.31

** Other investments includes an investment made in Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of Rs. 8.71. Since the amount is not material, the fair value disclosure have not been made.

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1

This includes the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets which is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The mutual funds are valued using the closing
NAV.

Level 2
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as
possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.




API Holdings Limited
Notes to the lidated fi ial as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

a)

Level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
There are no transfers between the levels during the year.

Inputs used in fair valuation of level 3 instr

particulars Fair Value as at Fair Value as at| Significant unobservable Inputs Sensitivity
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 inputs|
Non Current Borrowings - 64.27 |Weighted Average Cost |Nil (March 31, 2024: |Increase in WACC by 1% would decrease the liability is Nil
Compulsorily convertible cumulative of Capital (WACC) 15.89%) (March 31, 2024: Rs 18.64)
participating debentures (CCD's) Decrease in WACC by 1% would increase the liability is Nil
(March 31, 2024: Rs. 13.15)
Growth rate Nil (March 31, 2024: |Increase in growth rate by 1% would increase the liability
4%) is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 7.84)
Decrease in growth rate by 1% would decrease the
liability is Nil (March 31, 2024: Rs. 9.85)
Other investments 110.45 107.45 |Weighted Average Cost|21.40% (March 31, A sensitivity analysis has been done for the investment
Investment in Aarman Solutions Private of Capital (WACC) 2024: 20.70%) value for different levels of perpetuity growth and WACC.
Limited The estimated value for the scenarios is as follows:
Perpetuity growth 31 March 2025:
4% (March 31, 2024: Perpetuity Growth Rate %
4%) WACC 3.00% 3.00%
20.40% 11183 115.07
22409 106.63 10897
31 March 2024:
Perpetuity Growth Rate %
WACC 3.00% 5.00%
19.70% 108.61 112.63
21.70% 103.43 106.33
Other investments 58.46 58.46 |Weighted Average Cost|16.22% (March 31, Increased earning growth factor by 5% and lower
Investment in Health Arx Technologies of Capital (WACC) 2024:16.22% ) discount rate by 1% would increase fair value by Rs. 34.66
Private Limited (March 31, 2024: 34.66).
Earnings growth rate
95% to 125% (March [Lower earning growth factor by 5% and higher discount
31, 2024: 95% to rate by 1%would decrease fair value by Rs. 23.11 (March
125% ) 31,2024: 23.11).

Valuation processes
The finance department of the group includes a team that performs the valuations of financial assets and liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. This team
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The team takes assistance of external valuation experts, wherever required.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on robust liquidity management as well as monitoring of various
relevant market variables, thereby consistently seeking to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. This note explains the sources of risk which the Group is exposed
to and how the Group manages the risk and the related impact in the financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge its obligation to the Group. The maximum credit risk comprises the carrying amounts of the financial assets. The Group's exposure to credit
risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, security deposits, investments, loans and other financial assets. The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and
other counterparties and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.

Credit risk management
Credit risk rating
The group assesses and manages credit risk of financial assets based on following categories arrived on the basis of assumptions, inputs and factors specific to the class of financial assets.

A: Low credit risk
B: Moderate credit risk
C: High credit risk

. As at As at
Credit ratin, Particulars
g March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
o Cash and cash equivalents, Other bank balances, trade receivables, security deposits,
A: Low credit risk . . . 16,821.69 26,517.33
investments and other financial assets
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b) Credit risk exposure

(i

Cash and cash equivalent and other bank balances
Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents is managed by accepting highly rated banks and diversifying bank deposits and accounts in different banks across the country. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

Other financial assets measured at amortized cost
Other financial assets measured at amortized cost includes bank deposits, loans, advances and other receivables. Credit risk related to these assets is managed by monitoring the recoverability of

such amounts continuously, while at the same time internal control system in place ensures that amounts are within defined limits. The expected credit loss on these financial instruments is
expected to be insignificant.

Trade and other receivables
The Group has used a practical expedient by computing the expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables based on a provision matrix. The provision matrix takes into account historical credit

loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking information. The expected credit loss allowance is based on the ageing of the days for which the receivables are due and the expected loss rates
have been computed based on ageing.

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision

Particulars
As at As at

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 2,339.07 1,113.83
Opening balance utilised (12.87) (250.18)
Change in loss allowance 1,001.25 1,475.42
Closing balance 3,327.45 2,339.07
Ageing of trade receivables and credit risk arising therefrom is as below:
Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

All f dit
Gross Credit risk owavII::secsur crect Total Gross Credit risk Allowance for credit losses Total

Not due 3,775.32 (93.88) 3,681.44 3,778.31 (54.19) 3,724.12
0-90 days past due 2,392.18 (202.72) 2,189.46 2,602.21 (135.51) 2,466.70
91-180 days past due 658.06 (75.82) 582.24 706.69 (185.90) 520.79
181-270 days past due 296.71 (177.65) 119.06 223.24 (124.40) 98.84
271-365 days past due 281.44 (181.12) 100.32 614.95 (459.11) 155.84
More than 365 days past due 2,618.82 (2,596.26) 22.56 1,475.77 (1,379.96) 95.81
Total 10,022.53 (3,327.45) 6,695.08 9,401.17 (2,339.07) 7,062.10

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. The Group takes into account the liquidity of the market in
which the group operates. The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available through a combination of equity and debt financing.

Financial arrangements
The Group has access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Floating rate

Expiring within one year (long term credit facilities) 2,153.94 627.50

Fixed rate

Expiring within one year (long term credit facilities) - 106.89

Expiring beyond one year (long term credit facilities) - 109.05
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(ii) Maturities of financial liabilities

as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Particulars As at March 31, 2025

Ond d Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total
Non-derivatives
Borrowings 2,450.64 1,045.12 17,016.70 - 20,512.46
Lease liabilities - 380.07 1,030.59 109.40 1,520.07
Trade payables - 4,267.10 - - 4,267.10
Other financial liabilities 249.31 7,328.21 - - 7,577.52
Total 2,699.95 13,020.50 18,047.29 109.40 33,877.15
Particulars As at March 31, 2024

On demand Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total
Non-derivatives
Borrowings 4,478.39 16,261.26 20,528.23 - 41,267.88
Lease liabilities - 375.64 1,030.85 86.37 1,492.85
Trade payables - 4,129.07 - - 4,129.07
Other financial liabilities 256.31 7,495.97 - - 7,752.28
Total 4,734.70 28,261.94 21,559.07 86.37 54,642.08
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risks — foreign currency

risk, interest risk and price risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which sales and purchases are denominated and the functional currency of Group. The

functional currency for large number of transactions of the Group is INR and majority of the customers the Group dealt with operate from India only.

Exposure to currency risk

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management is as follows.

(Amount in millions)

. As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Particulars
INR INR
Trade receivables# (In USD) - -
Trade payables (In USD) (0.18) (6.20)
Borrowings (In USD) (17,006.14) (33,585.34)
Net exposure in respect of r d assets and liabilities (17,006.32), (33,591.54)

# Trade receivables are gross of expected credit loss allowance

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the INR or US dollar at March 31, 2025 would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in foreign currency and
affected profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and

purchases.

Particulars Profit or loss |
Strengthening Weakening

March 31, 2025 1,700.63 (1,700.63)

INR (10% movement)

March 31, 2024 3,359.15] (3,359.15)

INR (10% movement)

Price risk

The Group’s investment in certain equity shares is exposed to price risk, for detail refer note 47(i).
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Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Below is the overall exposure of the group to interest rate risk:

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Variable rate borrowing 18,959.93 37,103.18
Fixed rate borrowing 1,552.53 4,164.70
Total borrowings 20,512.46 41,267.88
Sensitivity analysis

Below is the sensitivity of profit or loss and equity changes in interest rates on variable rate borrowings:

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Interest Sensitivity*

Interest rates — increase by 100 basis points 189.60 371.03
Interest rates — decrease by 100 basis points (189.60) (371.03)

* Holding all other variables constant

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a

gearing ratio, which is net debt (total borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents) divided by total equity (including non-controlling interest).

The capital structure is as follows:

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Borrowings 20,336.68 40,983.57
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 8,771.21 17,472.46
Net debt 11,565.47 23,511.11
Equity 32,722.81 25,883.10
Total Equity 32,722.81 25,883.10
Net debt equity ratio 35.34% 90.84%

The net debt to equity ratio for the current year decreased from 90.84% to 35.34% as a result of repayment of borrowings and increase in equity is mainly on account of new issue of shares during
the year.

Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) Issuance and Settlement
During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company issued NCDs to Goldman Sachs and Evolution X. The details of the NCD terms, compliance with covenants, and subsequent actions taken by the
Company are as follows:

Issuance of NCDs

- Tranche 1 NCDs: 152,000 NCDs issued to Goldman Sachs on June 23, 2022, with a face value of Rs. 1,00,000 each, aggregating to Rs. 15,200.
- Tranche 2 NCDs: 76,000 NCDs issued to Goldman Sachs on June 23, 2022, with a face value of Rs. 1,00,000 each, aggregating to Rs. 7,600.

- Tranche 3A NCDs: 13,200 NCDs issued to EvolutionX on September 30, 2022, with a face value of Rs. 1,00,000 each, aggregating to Rs. 1,320.
- Tranche 3B NCDs: 13,200 NCDs issued to EvolutionX on March 8, 2023, with a face value of Rs. 1,00,000 each, aggregating to Rs. 1,320.

- Tranche 4A NCDs: 6,600 NCDs issued to EvolutionX on September 30, 2022, with a face value of Rs. 1,00,000 each, aggregating to Rs. 660.

- Tranche 4B NCDs: 6,600 NCDs issued to EvolutionX on March 8, 2023, with a face value of Rs. 1,00,000 each, aggregating to Rs. 660.

Redemption of NCDs
- Tranche 1 NCDs and Tranche 2 NCDs: 13,200 and 6,600 NCDs, respectively, redeemed on September 30, 2022, aggregating to Rs. 1,320 and Rs. 660, respectively.
- Tranche 1 NCDs and Tranche 2 NCDs: 10,662 and 5,271 NCDs, respectively, redeemed on March 8, 2023, aggregating to Rs. 1,066 and Rs. 527, respectively.

Issuance of Reservation of Rights Letters (“ROR Letters”):
Reservation of Rights Letters (ROR Letters) issued by the Debenture Trustee, highlighting non-compliance with certain covenants and directing the Company to take corrective actions.

Execution of Framework Agreement:

On December 1, 2023, the Company and the Debenture Trustee entered into a framework agreement (“Framework Agreement”) with following key terms.

-Waivers granted as part of the settlement: As part of the Framework Agreement, previously identified defaults of certain covenants of the DTD as well as other matters (including material breach of
other representations, conditions and covenants) disclosed as part of the disclosure letter to the Framework Agreement have been agreed to be waived. General waiver has also been provided to all
defaults including breach of financial covenants set forth in the DTD.

-Conditions to settlement: Goldman Sachs / EvolutionX have stipulated certain pre-conditions to the settlement which includes raising of minimum Rs. 20,000 by way of a rights issue; and execution
of revised shareholders agreement of the Company. The Company has completed the rights issue and raised upto Rs. 35,000.

As part of the settlement, Company has during April 2024 redeemed (i) Tranche 2 NCDs having nominal value of Rs. 6,412.90; (ii) Tranche 4A NCDs having nominal value of Rs. 6,600; (iii) Tranche 4B
NCDs having nominal value of Rs. Rs. 6,600; and (iv) Incurred Early redemption charges of Rs. 3,424.94

Execution of fourth amended and restated debenture trust deed:

The fourth amended and restated debenture trust deed was executed on December 1, 2023 and has come into effect on the closing date under the Framework Agreement (by issuance of shares and
cash settlement, as contemplated therein) i.e. on 26 April 2024. Tranche 1, Tranche 3A, and Tranche 3B Debentures shall continue, with modifications to their terms in accordance with fourth
amended and restated debenture trust deed.
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48 The Company as a lessee
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. The Group leases various premises including leasehold land
and plant and machinery . Rental contracts are typically made for the fixed periods between 1-5 years.

a. The following is the break-up of current and non-current lease liabilities

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Current 267.20 310.25
Non-current 913.75 900.39
Total 1,180.95 1,210.64

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities as the current assets are sufficient to meet the
obligations related to lease liabilities as and when they fall due. There are no future cash outflows relating to leases that have not
yet commenced.

b. The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2025 31, 2024
Interest on lease liabilities 154.66 158.59
Depreciation of Right-of-use assets 371.14 387.66
Expense relating to short-term leases 72.88 146.12
(Gain) / loss on lease termination (29.69) (38.32)
(Gain) / loss on lease modification - (7.53)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 568.99 646.52
c. Total cash outflow (including short term and low value assets) 528.75 643.25
d. Additions to right of use assets includes Prepaid rent upon fair valuation of 24.01 -

security deposits.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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49 Employee benefit obligation
a. Defined contribution plans

The Group contributions towards provident fund managed by the Central Government and towards employees state Insurance contribution scheme in pursuance of ESI Act, 1948
(as amended) which is debited to statement of profit and loss as incurred. The Group has no obligation other than making contribution to the fund.

During the year, the Group has recognised the following amounts in the statement of profit and loss, which are included in contribution to provident and other funds.

Particulars For the year ended  For the year ended March
March 31, 2025 31, 2024
Contribution to provident and other funds 183.18 190.53

b. Leave obligation

The leave obligation cover Group's liability for compensated absences which are classified as other long term benefits.The entire amount of the provision of Rs. 99.99 (March 31,
2024:122.66) is presented as current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, the Group does not expect
all employees to avail the full amount of accrued leave or require payment for such leave within next 12 month. Leave obligation not expected to be settled within next 12 month
is Rs. 32.9 (March 31, 2024: Rs 39.14).

c. Post-employment obligations

Gratuity

The Group provides for gratuity to employees as per Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Every employee who has completed five years or more of continuous service gets a gratuity
on death or resignation or retirement at 15 days basic salary (last drawn salary) for each completed years of services as per Group policy. The provision for gratuity is actuarially
determined using the ‘Projected Unit Credit Method’ as at the year end. Gains/ losses on changes in actuarial assumptions are accounted for in the Other Comprehensive Income.
The following table sets out the status of the gratuity plan as required under Ind AS 19 ‘Employee benefits’.

A. Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation:

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Obligations as at the beginning of the year 222.15 220.43
Current service cost 49.32 51.21
Past service cost / (credit) - 0.08
Interest expense 15.91 15.02
Benefit payments (40.35) (37.89)
Remeasurements- Actuarial (gains) / losses 2.00 (26.70)
Obligations as at the end of the year 249.03 222.15
Break up of Actuarial (gains) / losses
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Actuarial (gain)/loss on arising from change in demographic assumption 11.04 (9.10)
Actuarial (gain)/loss on arising from change in financial assumption 5.43 1.69
Actuarial (gain)/loss on arising from experience adjustment (14.47) (19.28)
Total actuarial (gain)/loss 2.00 (26.70)
B. Movement in fair value of plan assets
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Plan assets at the beginning of the year 63.93 59.60
Investment income 4.49 4.15
Contributions during the year 3.91 5.28
Benefits paid (11.35) (3.05)
Return on Plan Assets, excluding amount recognised in net interest expense (1.19) (2.05)
Plan assets at the end of the year, at fair value 59.79 63.93
Plan assets consists of the following:
Funds managed by insurer 100% 100%
C. Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets
Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Present value of defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 249.03 22215
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 59.79 63.93
Liability recognised in the balance sheet 189.24 158.21
Current 57.61 47.43

Non Current 131.63 110.78
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D. Exp recognized in the of profit and loss
Particulars For the year ended  For the year ended March
March 31, 2025 31,2024
Current service cost 49.32 51.21
Past service cost - 0.08
Interest expense 15.91 15.02
Investment income (4.49) (4.15)
Total exp T ised in the of profit and loss 60.74 62.15
E. Expense recognised in the Other comprehensive income
Particulars For the year ended  For the year ended March
March 31, 2025 31, 2024
Loss/(gain) from change in financial assumptions 5.43 1.05
Loss/(gain) from change in demographic assumptions 11.04 (9.10)
Experience losses / (gain) (14.48) (18.64)
Return on plan asset excluding amounts included in interest income 1.19 2.05
Total expenses / (gain) recognized in the other comprehensive income 3.18 (24.64)

The actuarial valuation in respect of commitments and expenses relating to unfunded Gratuity are based on the following assumptions which if changed, would affect the
commitment’s size, funding requirements and expenses.

F. Expense recognised in the Comprehensive income

Particulars For the year ended  For the year ended March
March 31, 2025 31,2024
Expense recognised in the Statement of profit and loss 60.74 62.15
Expense recognised in the Other comprehensive income 3.18 (24.64)
63.92 37.51

G. Economic Assumptions

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Discount rate 7.15% to 7.90% 7.15% t0 7.90%

Expected rate of salary increase 5% to 10% 5% to 10%

H. Demographic Assumptions

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Retirement Age 58 to 60 years 58 to 60 years

Mortality Table 100% of Indian Assured  100% of Indian Assured Lives

Lives Mortality 2012-14 Mortality 2012-14

Attrition / Withdrawal Rates: (per annum) 2% to 35% 2% to 35%

Sensitivity Analysis

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

a) Impact of the change in discount rate

i) Impact due to increase of 1% (15.40) (9.13)

ii) Impact due to decrease of 1% 16.50 10.73

b) Impact of the change in salary increase
i) Impact due to increase of 1% 14.99 9.56
ii) Impact due to decrease of 1% (15.85) (8.97)

c) Impact of the change in attrition rate
i) Impact due to increase of 50% (13.61) (14.17)
ii) Impact due to decrease of 50% 18.33 19.81

d) Impact of change in Mortality Rate
i) Impact due to increase of 10.00% (1.40) 0.00
ii) Impact due to decrease of 10.00% (0.25) (0.00)

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of
the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the
defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability
recognised in the Balance Sheet.

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the prior period.
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Risk Exposure

Through its defined benefit plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

The Gratuity scheme is a Defined Benefit Plan that provides for a lump sum payment made on exit either by way of retirement, death, disability or voluntary withdrawal. The
benefits are defined on the basis of final salary and the period of service and paid as lump sum at exit. The Plan design means the risks commonly affecting the liabilities and the
financial results are expected to be:

Interest rate risk:
The defined benefit obligation calculated uses a discount rate based on government bonds. If bond yields fall, the defined benefit obligation will tend to increase.

Demographic risk:
The Group has used certain mortality and attrition assumptions in valuation of the liability. The Group is exposed to the risk of actual experience turning out to be worse
compared to the assumption.

Salary Risk:
The present value of the defined benefit plan is calculated with the assumption of salary increase rate of plan participants in future. Deviation in the rate of increase of salary in
future for plan participants from the rate of increase in salary used to determine the present value of obligation will have a bearing on the plan's liability.

Defined Benefit Liability and Employer

The Group has purchased an insurance policy to provide for payment of gratuity to the employees. Every year, the insurance company carries out a funding valuation based on
the latest employee data provided by the Group. Any deficit in the assets arising as a result of such valuation is funded by the Group. Expected contributions to gratuity plans for
the year ending March 31, 2025 : Rs. 47.68 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 43.25)

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 3 to 17 years (March 31, 2024: 3 to 17 years)

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation

Particulars As at As at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Less than a year 41.82 37.48
Between 1to 5 years 116.17 106.66
More than 5 years 241.10 317.78
Total expected cash flow 399.09 461.92

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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50

Related parties transactions

(i) Names of related parties and description of relationship

Name of the Entity

Relationship with the entity

Thyrocare Technologies Limited
Nueclear Healthcare Limited

Pulse Hitech Health Services (Ghatkopar) LLP (incorporated w.e.f. November 24, 2022)

Think Health Diagnostics Private Limited (w.e.f. February 27, 2024)
AHWSPL India Private Limited

Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited
AKP Healthcare Private Limited

Aushad Pharma Distributors Private Limited
Mahaveer Medi-Sales Private Limited

Aryan Wellness Private Limited

D. C. Agencies Private Limited

Desai Pharma Distributors Private Limited

Eastern Agencies Healthcare Private Limited

Avighna Medicare Private Limited

Venkatesh Medico Private Limited

Reenav Pharma Private Limited (upto December 2, 2024)
Muthu Pharma Private Limited

Rau and Co Pharma Private Limited

Pearl Medicals Private Limited

Shell Pharmaceuticals Private Limited

Dial Health Drug Supplies Private Limited

Threpsi Solutions Private Limited

Care Easy Health Tech Private Limited

Docon Technologies Private Limited

Aycon Graph Connect Private Limited

Ayro Retail Solutions Private Limited

Akna Medical Private Limited

Shreeji Distributors Pharma Private Limited
Vardhman Health Specialties Private Limited

Allumer Medical Private Limited

Healthchain Private Limited

Supplythis Technologies Private Limited

Subsidiaries and Step down subsidiary
companies

Marg ERP Limited (upto February 13, 2025)
Impex Healthcare Private Limited ( through Akna Medical Private Limited)
Equinox Labs Private Limited (through Thyrocare Technologies Limited)

Associate

Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited (w.e.f. October 13, 2023)

Joint Venture

Key Management Personnel

Siddharth Shah

Harsh Parekh

Dharmil Sheth

Dhaval Shah

Hardik Dedhia

Yatharth Bhargova (upto September 30, 2024)
Pradyumna Maheshwari (w.e.f. January 14, 2025 - upto June 01, 2025)
Alok kumar Jagnani ( w.e.f. June 1, 2025)
Rahul Guha (w.e.f. January 24, 2024)

Aditya Puri

Ashutosh Sharma

Ankur Nand Thadani

Ranjan Pai

Shyam Powar

Deepak Vaidya

Vineeta Rai

Subramaniam Somasundaram

Jaydeep Tank

Dovaldas Buzinskas (w.e.f. May 15, 2024)

Jaydeep Tank HUF
Puri Advisors LLP
Shree Simba Chemist LLP

Co-founder, Managing Director and CEO

Co-founder, Whole Time Director, Chief Business Officer/ KMP
Co-founder, Whole Time Director, Chief Business Officer/ KMP
Co-founder and Chief Business officer/ KMP

Co-founder and Chief Innovation Officer/ KMP

Chief Financial Officer / KMP

Chief Financial Officer / KMP

Chief Financial Officer / KMP

President - Operations

Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

Independent Director

Non-Executive Director

Entity in which Director is a Member
Entity in which Director is a Partner
Entity in which Director / Key Managerial Personnel is a Partner

TPG Growth V SF Markets Pte. Ltd.
MEMG Family Office LLP

[CDPQ Private Equity Asia Pte. Ltd.
MacRitchie Investments Pte. Ltd.

Naspers Ventures B. V.

Entities having significant influence
over the Company (having rights to
appoint board member)

Chaitanya Deepak Vaidya

Relative of Key Managerial Personnel
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i) Related party transactions during the year

Particulars

For the Year ended
March 31, 2025

For the Year ended
March 31, 2024

Sale of Goods (net of return)
Impex Healthcare Private Limited

Purchase (net of return)
Impex Healthcare Private Limited

Sale of Porperty, Plant and Equipment
Impex Healthcare Private Limited

Interest Income
Impex Healthcare Private Limited
Marg ERP Limited

Loan given to
Impex Healthcare Private Limited

Investment in Associate and Joint Venture (Including Fair Value of Financial Guarantee)
Impex Healthcare Private Limited
Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited

Director's Commission
Deepak Vaidya

Jaydeep Tank

Subramaniam Somasundaram
Vineeta Rai

Management Fees Income
Impex Healthcare Private Limited

Corporate Guarantee fee
Impex Healthcare Private Limited

Legal Professional Fees
Puri Advisors LLP

Director Sitting Fees

Aditya Puri

Deepak Vaidya

Dr. Ranjan Pai

Jaydeep Tank

Subramaniam Somasundaram
Mr. Shyam Powar

Vineeta Rai

Reimbursement of Expenses
Dhaval Shah

Dharmil Sheth

Siddharth Shah

Harsh Parekh

Equity Shares Allotment
Deepak Vaidya
Chaitanya Deepak Vaidya

Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares issued to :
Jaydeep Tank

Jaydeep Tank HUF

(CDPQ Private Equity Asia Pte. Ltd.

Naspers Ventures B. V.

TPG Growth V SF Markets Pte. Ltd.

Aditya Puri

MEMG Family Office LLP

Deepak Vaidya

(Chaitanya Deepak Vaidya

C ion of C il Shares in to Equity :
Deepak Vaidya
Chaitanya Deepak Vaidya

Investments during the period
Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited

Application money paid towards securities in jointly controlled entity
Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited

C Paid to Key (KMP) and Directors
Short-term employee benefits***
Share based payments (refer note 52)

55.10
7.05

3.00

46.72

2.46

2.50
1.20
4.50
2.50

12.50

0.06
0.15
0.06
0.05
0.09
0.07
0.10

950.23

2,217.20

8,000.00

(0.10)
10.60

96.97
4,047.29

17.67

13.35

46.38
20.00

56.11

26.16
3132

2.50
1.20
4.50
2.50

30.00
21.44
11.70

0.10

0.17

0.11
0.14

0.15
217
1.43
0.41

8.52
434

3.34
0.12

3,600.00
106.48

41.24
21.00

41.24
21.00

31.32

74.98
1,205.39

*** Excludes provision for gratuity and leave encashment recognised on the basis of actuarial valuation as separate figures are not available.
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(iii) Related party closing balances as at the Balance Sheet date

particulars For the Year ended For the Year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Loans given outstanding

Marg ERP Limited - 200.00

Impex Healthcare Private Limited - 493.34

Trade receivables

Impex Healthcare Private Limited - 56.75

Trade payables

Impex Healthcare Private Limited 29.78 5.70

Siddharth Shah - 0.47

Dharmil Sheth - 0.04

Investment in associates

Marg ERP Limited - 2,594.15

Equinox Labs Private Limited 237.50 227.42

Impex Healthcare Private Limited - 195.67

Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited 417 28.79

Interest accrued

Marg ERP Limited - 40.79

Impex Healthcare Private Limited - 71.53

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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51 Summary of business combination

(a) Pursuant to the Business Transfer Agreement dated September 01, 2024 the Aryan wellness private Limited has acquired the pharma business

b

c

d

-

—

)

(Rajasthan) of Aarogyadhan Medi Health and Wellness Solutions Private Limited by way of a slump sale on going concern basis at arms length for a
lumpsum consideration of Rs. 0.54

Details of Purchase Consideration and Net Asset acquired on the date of acquisition are as follows:

Purchase Consideration 0.54

Net Assets transferred

Trade receivables (Net off Loss allowance Rs. 12.82) 74.03
Non Current financial assets -
Property Plant & Equipment 1.14
Inventories -
Other current assets 0.16
Total Assets 75.33
Trade Payable 73.63
Other Financial Liabilities 1.08
Short term provisions 0.07
Total liabilities 74.79
Net Assets 0.54

Acquired receivables
The fair value of acquired trade receivables are Rs. 74.03 with respect to above business acquired. The gross contractual amount of trade receivables
due is Rs. 86.85 with a loss allowance of Rs. 12.82.

During the year the ended March 31, 2025, the group has sold one of its subsidiary i.e. Reenav Pharma Private Limited for a consideration of Rs. 0.07
which has resulted into derecognition of goodwill of Rs. 70.28 pertaining to said subsidiary.

During the current year, the Thyrocare Technologies Limited, a step-down subsidiary of APl has made two business acquisitions in the diagnostic
services sector. On 2 July 2024, It signed a Business Transfer Agreement (BTA) with Polo Labs Private Limited to acquire its diagnostic services business
for a purchase consideration of Rs. 42.60. The acquisition was recorded with Rs. 12.20 recognized as Goodwill, Rs. 8.00 for Brand name, Rs. 6.90 for
Non-compete fees, Rs. 4.50 for Software and Rs. 11.00 for net Fixed assets.

Subsequently, on 11 October 2024, the acquisition of the business was completed of diagnostic services of Vimta Labs Limited’s for a purchase
consideration of Rs. 70.00 The acquisition was recorded with Rs. 29.60 recognized as Goodwill, Rs. 23.40 for Customer relationships, Rs. 3.10 for Non-
compete fees and Rs. 13.90 for net fixed assets.

Acquisitions during the year the ended March 31, 2024

Acquisition of Think health Diagnostic Private limited ("Think health")

Thyrocare Technologies Limited, a step-down subsidiary of API, has acquired 100% equity interest in Think Health Diagnostic Private Limited on
February 27, 2024.

Think Health provides healthcare logistics and home health solutions, including:

- Trained technicians for home health solutions

- Lab and vendor services

Details of Purchase Consideration and Net Asset acquired during the Business Combinations on the date of Amount
acquisition are as follows:-

Consideration paid (a) 3.22
Net identifiable assets acquired (b) (34.27)

Goodwill (a)-(b) 37.49
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52 Share Based Payment

A

as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

(i) The Group has established Employee Stock Option Scheme 2020 (ESOP 2020) with effect from 27th August 2020 to enable the employees of the Group to participate in the future growth
and success of the Company. ESOP 2020 is operated at the discretion of the Board. These options which confer a right but not an obligation on the employee to apply for equity shares of the
Company once the terms and conditions set forth in the ESOP 2020 and the option agreement have been met. Vesting conditions would be subject to continued employment with the Group.

(ii) During the financial year ended March 31, 2021, the Company had modified the earlier Employee Stock Option plans which were issued to employees of 91Streets Media Technologies
Private Limited ("91Streets / Acquirer") as per the Scheme of Amalgamation approved by National Company Law Board with effective date of merger of 91 Streets with the Company i.e.
August 27, 2020. The Scheme was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting under the provisions of Ind AS 103, Business Combinations with the
Effective Date being the acquisition date. 91Streets has been determined to be the acquirer for accounting purposes and hence the replacement of Employee Stock Option Plans issued by the
91Streets with API Holdings Private Limited, has been considered as at the modification date. There is no incremental fair value on account of replacement of employee stock option plans as

at modification date i.e. August 27, 2020.

(iii) During the financial year ended March 31, 2021, the Company has modified the earlier Employee Stock Option plans which were issued by Ascent Heath and Wellness Solutions Private
Limited (Acquiree) as per the Scheme of Amalgamation approved by National Company Law Board with effective date of amalgamation of 27th August 2020. The Scheme was accounted for as
a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting under the provisions of Ind AS 103, Business Combinations with the Effective Date being the acquisition date.

The Group has below share based payment arrangement under E

0P 2020 for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Average exercise‘ price per Number of options Average exercise. price per Number of options
share option share option
Outstanding as at April 01st 6.97 845,653,537 6.79 868,760,376
Add: Options granted during the year 4.03 954,302,691 1.00 38,398,738
Less: Exercised during the year® 1.49 (77,937,629) - -
Less: Options lapsed during the year 4.37 (27,074,919) 1.00 (39,953,057)
Less: Options surrendered during the year {(refer note 23(i)}@ - - 1.00 (21,552,520)
No of option outstanding as at year end March 31st 4.94 1,694,943,680 6.97 845,653,537
Vested and Exercisable 6.28 734,727,220 5.64 373,473,638
Share options outstanding at the end of the year March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 have the following expiry date and exercise prices:
Exercise price R . . dterm of Share options Share options|
Grant Date (Post Modification) (Rs.) # - March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
° (refer note (i) below) (refer note (i) below)
01-Oct-2015 1.00 | Upon occurrence of liquidity 110,880 110,880
01-May-2017 1.00 event $$ 5,586,350 7,904,930
01-Jul-2017 1.00 154,990 154,990
01-Mar-2018 1.00 3,568,950 4,502,190
25-Jul-2018 1.00 166,320 166,320
01-Oct-2018 1.00 5,037,450 5,956,170
01-Nov-2018 1.00 27,720 101,640
01-Dec-2018 1.00 - 9,240
18-Feb-2019 1.00 4,710,090 9,420,180
01-Oct-2019 4.01 10,755,470 10,773,620
01-Jan-2020 4.01 20,651,290 20,896,480
01-Jan-2020 8.02 9,877,890 9,877,890
01-Apr-2020 4.01 2,492,380 2,606,780
01-May-2020 4.01 8,580 8,580
01-Jun-2020 4.01 177,320 191,510
01-Jul-2020 4.01 12,540 12,540
27-Aug-2020 * 1.00 - -
27-Aug-2020 * 4.00 2,363,460 6,881,820
27-Aug-2020 * 4.01 12,458,160 18,816,270
01-Sep-2020 1.00 - 823,020
01-Sep-2020 4.01 883,190 945,230
01-Sep-2020 12.15 12,836,670 12,836,670
01-Oct-2020 4.01 7,347,830 7,651,050
01-Nov-2020 4.01 247,170 247,170
01-Jan-2021 4.01 6,549,989 7,660,123
02-Mar-2021 4.01 617,430 617,430
01-Apr-2021 4.01 129,349 129,349
01-May-2021 4.01 86,570 99,000
01-Jul-2021 1.00 874,720 1,697,960
01-Jul-2021 4.00 42,900 42,900
01-Jul-2021 4.01 255,750 255,750
01-Aug-2021 1.00 111,029,596 126,249,640
01-Sep-2021 1.00 295,326 357,026
15-Sep-2021 1.00 137,500,000 137,500,000
30-Sep-2021 1.00 2,872,430 9,460,550
01-Oct-2021 1.00 5,149,248 7,881,675
01-Oct-2021 4.01 27,060 27,060
01-Oct-2021 18.18 43,992,850 43,992,850
07-Oct-2021 1.00 13,987,076 39,065,014
02-Dec-2021 1.00 1,519,919 1,959,555




API Holdings Limited
Notes to the lid

as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Share options

Share options

Grant Date price d d term of March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(Post Modification) (Rs.) # granted (refer note (i) I;elow) (refer note (i) b‘eluw)
01-Jan-2022 1.00 | Upon occurrence of liquidity 216,694 251,595
01-Jan-2022 4.01 event $$ 123,750 123,750
01-Feb-2022 1.00 222,058 241,867
01-Mar-2022 1.00 211,323 258,145
01-Apr-2022 1.00 40,519 78,750
01-May-2022 1.00 2,620,292 3,156,288
01-Jun-2022 1.00 3,550,009 5,558,450
01-Jul-2022 1.00 2,635,807 4,360,382
01-Aug-2022 1.00 6,657,081 9,055,555
01-Sep-2022 1.00 - -
01-Sep-2022 4.01 3,961,220 3,961,220
01-Oct-2022 1.00 65,026 78,311
01-Nov-2022 1.00 1,570,897 1,836,987
01-Jan-2023 1.00 1,699,084 2,101,328
02-Jan-2023 10.83 275,000,000 275,000,000
01-Feb-2023 1.00 7,638,958 9,858,591
01-Mar-2023 1.00 83,892 123,850
01-Apr-2023 1.00 6,052 11,187
01-Jun-2023 1.00 3,355,934 3,355,934
01-Jul-2023 1.00 29,823,753 24,146,788
01-Aug-2023 1.00 16,678 16,677
01-Sep-2023 1.00 14,916 14,916
01-Nov-2023 1.00 7,458 1,313,428
04-Dec-2023 1.00 2,406,538 2,851,028
01-Jan-2024 1.00 7,458 7,458
01-Apr-2024 1.00 551,480 -
03-Jun-2024 1.00 40,055,930 -
06-Aug-2024 1.00 11,363,636 -
01-Oct-2024 1.00 147,500,000 -
01-Oct-2024 4.84 686,362,455 -
01-Nov-2024 4.84 413,223 -
01-Dec-2024 4.84 19,745,868 -
02-Jan-2025 4.84 1,000,000 -
01-Feb-2025 4.84 21,610,278 -
Total 1,694,943,680 845,653,537

Expected term of options granted- On occurrence of liquidity eventSS

Notes :

(a) # For the year ended 31 March 2022, the average exercise price for new grants has been derived at after giving effect of bonus and split
(b) * Represents the replacement date of the employee stock options granted to the employees of Ascent Heath and Wellness Solutions Private Limited (Acquiree) as per the Scheme of
Amalgamation approved by National Company Law Board with effective date of amalgamation of 27th August 2020.

(c) @ During the year Financial Year 2023-24 Rs. 1,154.24 millions is transferred from Employee stock option outstanding reserve to accumulated deficit due to surrender of options by

(d) $$ ESOP Scheme 2020 defines "Liquidity Event" as the date of expiry of options. “Liquidity Event” for ESOP Scheme 2020 means any event or transaction as decided and approved by the
Board as liquidity event for the purposes of ESOP plan, from time to time, which more particularly includes the following events:
a. Strategic Sale event conferring a right of drag along to the Current Shareholders

b. Listing, whereby the Shares of the Company get listed on any recognized Stock Exchange; and

c. Any other event, which the Board may designate as a liquidity event for the purpose of the ESOP

The options granted under above scheme can only be exercised in the case of happening of a Liquidity Event. Further, prior to listing, in case none of the Liquidity Events happens, the Board,
shall have the right (without any obligation) to settle any or all of the unexercised Vested Options, in one or more tranches, by way of cash payment. However, the management intends to
settle the option by issue of equity shares.

Particulars

March 31 2025

March 31 2024

| life of options

at end of year

2.51 years

2.40 years

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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API Holdings Limited
Notes to the lidated fil ial as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)
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56
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a)

b)

<)

d)

e)

g

Contingent liabilities and Commitments

(i) The Group has evaluated the impact of the recent Supreme Court Judgment in case of "Vivekananda Vidyamandir And Others Vs The Regional Provident Fund Commissioner (Il)West Bengal" and the
related circular (Circular No C-1/1(33)2019/Vivekananda VidyaMandir/284) dated March 20, 2019 issued by the Employees’ Provident Fund Organisation in relation to non-exclusion of certain allowances
from the definition of "basic wages" of the relevant employees for the purposes of determining contribution to provident fund under the Employees' Provident Funds & Miscellaneous Provisions Act,
1952. Based on the assessment made by the management, the said judgment does not have any significant impact on these financial statements. The Group will continue to monitor and evaluate its
position based on future events and developments.

Ii) Contingent liabilities

" As at Asat
sr-No. Particulars March 31,2025 March 31,2024
(i) Income tax 21.89 1.28
(i) Indirect tax 72.84 53.93
(iii) Employee provident fund matters 6.73 5.20
(iv) Claims not acknowledged as debt (refer note (i) below) - -

Note (i):

Mr. A. Sundararaju and Mr. A. Velumani (the “Petitioners”) have filed commercial suits against API Holdings Limited amongst 6 other respondents, before Hon’ble Bombay High Court. As per the suits, the
Petitioners have claimed a sum amounting to Rs 2,611.47 (March 31, 2024 - Rs. 2,611.47) against the respondents while alleging that the Company has colluded with the legal advisors of the Petitioners to
facilitate the sale of shares of Thyrocare Technologies Limited by the Petitioners to Docon Technologies Limited through an off-market transaction, rather than as an on-market sale. Since the claim
amount is jointly mentioned by the petitioner for all 7 respondents, claim amount pertaining to the Company is not separately ascertainable.

Note (ii):
The Group has reviewed all its pending litigations and proceedings and has disclosed as contingent liability wherever it is not more than likely, in its financial statements. The above contingent liabilities
have not been discounted. The Group does not expect the outcome of these proceedings to have a adverse effect on its financial statements.

iii) Commitments

Particulars As at Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Commitments relating to long-term arrangement with vendors (refer note (i) below) 2,145.66 2,990.33

Note (i):

The Group has entered into Reagent Rental Arrangements for periods ranging from 2 years to 7 years (March 31, 2024: 2 years to 7 years) with some of its major reagent suppliers. As per the terms of the
agreement, these reagent suppliers have placed the analysers / diagnostic equipments at no cost in the processing laboratory. The analysers / diagnostic equipments are programmed by the
manufacturers to be used only against the reagent supplier's brand of reagent kits. The commitments as per these arrangements are either purchase commitments or rate commitments based on the
workloads. The value of purchase commitments for the remaining number of years are Rs. 2,145.66 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 2,990.33) of which annual commitment for next financial period of twelve months
is Rs. 857.10 (March 31, 2024: Rs. 844.70) as per the terms of these arrangements.

The Code on Social Security, 2020 ('Code') relating to employee benefits during employment and post employment received Indian Parliament approval and Presidential assent in September 2020. The
Code has been published in the Gazette of India and subsequently on November 13, 2020 draft rules were published and invited for stakeholder's suggestions. However, the date on which the code will
come into effect has not been notified. The Group will assess the impact of the Code when it comes into effect and will record any related impact in the period the Code becomes effective.

Extract of notes to of idiary C ies with respect to going concern assessment

Extract from the financial statements of Care Easy Health Tech Private Limited

The Company has discontinued it's current operations vide board resolution dated March 10, 2023. The Management are of the view that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate and therefore, the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 have not been prepared on a going concern basis. The Company
management has assessed carrying value of assets and liabilities and based on current estimates, certain adjustments have been made in the books of account during the year ended March 31, 2025.

Extract from the financial statements of Muthu Pharma Private Limited

As referred to in Note 18, The Net worth of the Company has been eroded as at 31 March 2025. Further, in view of the fact that Company does not have definite business plan since the BTA, the going
concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements is no longer appropriate and accordingly the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 prepared other than on going
concern basis. The books of accounts during the year are based on carrying value of assets and liabilities as assessed by the management of the Company.

Extract from the financial statements of Pearl Medicals Private Limited

As referred to in Note 17, the Company has entered into a business transfer agreement (BTA) to transfer its business to Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited ("Holding company").

The Company does not have definite business plan since the BTA, the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements is no longer appropriate and accordingly the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 prepared other than on going concern basis. The books of accounts during the year are based on carrying value of assets and liabilities as assessed by the
management of Company.

Extract from the financial statements of Rau and Co Pharma Private Limited

As referred to in Note 18, the Company has entered into a business transfer agreement (BTA) to transfer its business to Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited ("Holding Company").

The Company does not have definite business plan since the BTA, the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements is no longer appropriate and accordingly the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 prepared other than on going concern basis. The books of accounts during the year are based on carrying value of assets and liabilities as assessed by the
management of the Company.

Extract from the financial statements of Shell Pharmaceuticals Private Limited

As referred to in Note 12, Since the Company does not have definite business plan since the BTA, the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements is no longer appropriate and
accordingly the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 prepared other than on going concern basis. The books of accounts during the year are based on carrying value of assets and
liabilities as assessed by the management of the Company.

Extract from the financial statements of Dial Health Drug Supplies Private Limited

The net worth of the Company has been eroded as at 31 March 2025. Further, in view of the fact that Company does not have definite business plan, the going concern assumption in the preparation of
the financial statements is no longer appropriate and accordingly the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 and previous year 31 March 2024 have been prepared other than on going
concern basis. The Company management has assessed carrying value of assets and liabilities and based on current estimates, certain adjustments have been made in the books of account during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

Extract from the financial statements of Desai Pharma Distributors Private Limited

As referred to in note 37, the Company has entered into a business transfer agreement (BTA) to transfer its business to Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited ("Holding Company").
The Company does not have definite business plan since the BTA, the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements is no longer appropriate and accordingly the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 prepared other than on going concern basis. The books of accounts during the year are based on carrying value of assets and liabilities as assessed by the
management of the Company.
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Additional regulatory information required by Schedule Il

Title deeds of Immovable properties not held in the name of the Group
The Group does not hold any immovable property (other than properties where the Group is the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) during the year ended March
31, 2025 and previous year ended March 31, 2024.

Details of benami property held
No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Company for holding benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder in the current
and previous year.

Wilful defaulter
The Group has not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government authority in the current and previous year.

Transactions with struck off companies
The Group does not have any transactions with companies struck- off under Section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or Section 560 of Companies Act, 1956 in the current and previous year.

Compliance with number of layers of companies
The Group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Companies Act 2013 read with the Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017.

Compli with d scheme of arr
The Group has not entered into any scheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact on current or previous financial year other than as disclosed in note 51.

Utilisation of borrowed funds and share premium
During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Holding Company has advanced funds amounting to Rs. 2,108.88 to one of its subsidiary company with an understanding to lend to its step-down subsidiary
companies.

Other than disclosed above, the Group has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding that the
Intermediary shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

During the year ended March 31, 2025, the subsidiary company has received funds amounting to Rs. 2,108.88 from its Holding Company with an understanding to lend to its subsidiary companies.

Other than disclosed above, the Group has not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or
otherwise) that the Company shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

Further, the Holding Company has received securities premium through issue of preference shares during the year. There is no specific understanding with investors, in writing or otherwise, to lend or
invest in other person or entities, directly or indirectly or provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the said investors. The management of the Holding Company has absolute discretion
on use of such funds. Further, the Holding Company has provided funds to its subsidiaries for their business purposes. The 1ent of subsidiary cc ies do not consult with the Holding Company
on the manner of utilisation of such funds nor the Holding Company has understanding in writing or otherwise on the manner of use of such funds by idiary ies, except as di above.

Undisclosed income
There is no income surrendered or disclosed as income during the current or previous year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961, that has not been recorded in the books of account.

Details of crypto currency or virtual currency
The Group has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual currency during the current or previous year.

luation of PP&E, i ible asset and i property
The Group has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) or intangible assets or both during the current or previous year.

Registration of charges or satisfaction with i of C
There are no charges or satisfaction which are yet to be registered with the Registrar of Companies beyond the statutory period.

Utilisation of borrowings availed from banks and financial institutions
The borrowings obtained by the Group from banks and financial institutions have been applied for the purposes for which such loans were taken for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024.

Borrowing secured against current assets
The Group has borrowings from banks on the basis of security of current assets. The quarterly returns or statements of current assets filed by the Group with banks are in agreement with the books of
accounts.
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Note on Impex on current year matter

As at March 31, 2025, the Company held an equity investment in Impex Healthcare Private Limited (“Impex”) amounting to Rs. 155.99, along with other receivables aggregating to Rs. 656.68. The
investment was classified as an Associate in accordance with Ind AS 28 — Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures due to the Company's ability to exercise significant influence through
shareholding and/or Board representation as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024.

During the year, significant operational and governance-related disputes arose between the Company and the management of Impex, and the Company was denied access to statutory and financial
records, including financial statements for FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25. Given these circumstances and pending resolution of the dispute, management is unable to assess whether the Company
continues to have the ability to exercise significant influence over Impex.

In accordance with the requirements of Ind AS 28 and Ind AS 36 — Impairment of Assets, the Company has assessed the carrying value of its investment and the recoverability of receivables from
Impex. Based on this assessment, a full provision of Rs. 728.22 has been recorded in the Statement of Profit and Loss under “Exceptional Items” during the year and Rs. 84.45 has been recorded in the
Statement of Profit and Loss under "Expected credit loss on financial assets".

This provisioning reflects a conservative and prudent approach to financial reporting and does not prejudice the Company's legal rights or recovery strategy, which remain under active consideration.
The potential implications, if any, on the standalone financial statements arising from the final outcome of the dispute are currently unascertainable.

Events occurring after the reporting period
There are no significant events after the reporting period that would require adjustments or disclosures in the financial statement between the Balance Sheet date and the date of signing of financial
statements.

Previous year's figures have been regrouped / reclassified wherever necessary, to conform to current period’s classification in order to comply with the requirements of the Schedule Il of the
Companies Act, 2013 and Indian Accounting Standards as amended from time to time.
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